SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

3015.

HÖLGYESI ÁRON

Elméleti és klinikai immunológia és reumatológia című program

Programvezető: Dr. Mócsai Attila, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Péntek Márta, egyetemi tanár

NEW PERSPECTIVES ON HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE ASSESSMENT IN PATIENTS WITH MUSCULOSKELETAL DISORDERS

PhD dissertation

Áron Hölgyesi

Semmelweis University Doctoral School

Division of Molecular Medicine





Supervisor:

Official reviewers:

Márta Péntek, MD, DSc.

Ágnes Mészáros, PharmD, PhD Attila Kovács, MD, PhD

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: László Tóthfalusi, PharmD, DSc.

Members of the **Complex Examination Committee:**

Adrienn Poór, MD, PhD Anna Polgár, MD, PhD

Budapest 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Li	st of	abbre	viations	б
1	IN	ITRO	DUCTION	8
	1.1	Mu	sculoskeletal health	8
	1.	1.1	The epidemiology of MSK diseases	8
	1.	1.2	The burden of musculoskeletal diseases	9
	1.2	He	alth-related Quality of Life (HRQoL)	9
	1.	2.1	The concept of HRQoL	0
	1.	2.2	The measurement of HRQoL1	1
	1.	2.3	Standard health status and HRQoL measurement tools used in the Thesis 12	2
		1.2.3.	1 Minimum European Health Module (MEHM)	2
		1.2.3.	2 EQ-5D-5L	2
		1.2.3.	3 Health Assessment Questionnaire – Disability Index (HAQ-DI) 12	2
		1.2.3.	4 Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) 12	3
		1.2.3.		
		1.2.3.	6 Happiness VAS	3
		1.2.3.	7 ICECAP-A and ICECAP-O 12	3
		1.2.3.	8 Electronic Health Literacy Scale (eHEALS)	4
		1.2.3.	9 Shared Decision Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9)14	4
		1.2.3.	10 Other measures	4
	1.	2.4	The importance of HRQoL in different areas of decision making in healthcare. 1:	5
	1.3		perspectives and research gaps in the HRQoL assessment of musculoskeletal ders	6
	1.	3.1	New HRQoL assessment tools: combined measures, need for locally validated versions	6
	1.	3.2	New needs in epidemiology: musculoskeletal health of the population and of informal caregivers, prevalence of implantable medical devices	7
	1.	3.3	New areas of HRQoL measurement: re-use of health-related data, well-being and happiness outcomes, advanced digital health technologies and medical devices 19	
	1.	3.4	New aspects of patient involvement: shared decision making, electronic health (eHealth) literacy	1
	1.	3.5	New innovative digital health technologies: patients' preferences and acceptance of artificial intelligence-based health technologies	
2	0	BJEC	ΓΙVES	4
	2.1		velopment and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ and essment of the musculoskeletal health of the population	5
	2.2	Liv	ving with implantable medical devices: focus on musculoskeletal patients	5

2.3	Social preferences and attitudes towards the use of artificial intelligence-based technologies in hip replacement surgery	25
3 ME	THODS	
	Development and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ and assessmer	
	of the musculoskeletal health of the population (Study 1)	
3.1.	1 Data collection and survey design	27
3.1.	2 Standard measurement tools	28
3.1.	3 Statistics	28
	Living with implantable medical devices: focus on musculoskeletal patients Study 2a)	.29
3.2.	1 Data collection and survey design	. 29
3.2.	2 Standard measurement tools	. 30
3.2.	3 Statistical methods	30
	Social preferences and attitudes towards the use of artificial intelligence-based echnologies in hip replacement surgery (Study 2b)	.31
3.3.	1 Data collection and survey design	31
3.3.	2 Standard measurement tools	.32
3.3.	3 Statistical methods	.32
4 RES	SULTS	.33
	Development and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ and assessmer of the musculoskeletal health of the population (Study 1)	
4.1.	1 Development and validation	33
4.1.	2 Population normative data and differences by socio-demographic characteristics	. 38
4.1.	3 Informal caregivers: MSK health and HRQoL	39
	Living with implantable medical devices: focus on musculoskeletal patients Study 2a)	
4.2.	1 Epidemiology of IMDs	.40
4.2.	2 The overall impact of IMDs on patients' HRQoL	.42
4.2.	3 Patients' knowledge of IMDs, eHealth literacy and involvement in shared decision making	.43
	Social preferences and attitudes towards the use of artificial intelligence-based echnologies in hip replacement surgery (Study 2b)	.46
4.3.	1 Stated preferences for robot-assisted hip replacement surgery	46
4.3.	2 Strength of preferences towards conventional and robot-assisted hip replaceme surgery	
5 DIS	CUSSION	51

	5.1		lopment and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ and sment of the musculoskeletal health of the population5	1
	5.2	Livin	g with implantable medical devices: focus on musculoskeletal patients5	4
	5.3		al preferences and attitudes towards the use of artificial intelligence-based sologies in hip replacement surgery	6
6	COI	NCLU	SIONS	9
7	SUN	MMA	RY 6	1
8	REF	FEREN	NCES	2
9	BIB	LIOG	RAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS	1
	9.1	With	relevance to the thesis	1
	9.1.	1	Research papers	1
	9.1.	2	Conference papers (proceedings)	1
	9.1.	3	Conference abstracts	1
	9	.1.3.1	Presentations	1
	9	.1.3.2	Posters	2
	9.2	Other	r	3
	9.2.	1	Research papers	3
	9.2.	2	Conference papers (proceedings)	4
	9.2.	3	Conference abstracts	4
	9	.2.3.1	Presentations	4
	9	.2.3.2	Posters	4
1() A	CKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	6

List of abbreviations

AI	Artificial intelligence
DALY	Disability-adjusted life year
GALI	Glocal Activity Limitation Indicator
eHEALS	eHealth Literacy Scale
HAQ-DI	Health Assessment Questionnaire Disability Index
HRQoL	Health-related quality of life
HTA	Health technology assessment
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
ICECAP-A	ICEpop Capability measure for Adults
ICECAP-O	ICEpop Capability measure for Older people
IMD	Implantable medical device
MEHM	Minimum European Health Module
MEHM MSK	Minimum European Health Module Musculoskeletal
	-
MSK	Musculoskeletal
MSK MSK-HQ	Musculoskeletal Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire
MSK MSK-HQ OMERACT	Musculoskeletal Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire Outcome measurement in rheumatology
MSK MSK-HQ OMERACT PRO	Musculoskeletal Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire Outcome measurement in rheumatology Patient-reported outcome
MSK MSK-HQ OMERACT PRO PROM	Musculoskeletal Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire Outcome measurement in rheumatology Patient-reported outcome Patient-reported outcome measure
MSK MSK-HQ OMERACT PRO PROM RCT	Musculoskeletal Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire Outcome measurement in rheumatology Patient-reported outcome Patient-reported outcome measure Randomised controlled Trial
MSK MSK-HQ OMERACT PRO PROM RCT QALY	Musculoskeletal Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire Outcome measurement in rheumatology Patient-reported outcome Patient-reported outcome measure Randomised controlled Trial Quality-adjusted life year

- VAS Visual Analogue Scale
- WHO World Health Organization
- WHO-5 World Health Organization Five Well-Being Index
- WTP Willingness to pay
- YLD Years lived with disability

1 INTRODUCTION

The focus of my research is on musculoskeletal (MSK) disorders and specifically on the measurement of changes in quality of life associated with these disorders. The MSK disease area and research topic are fascinating to me for several reasons. Although the ageing society and the elderly are the primary people referred to as having MSK problems, these diseases increasingly affect young people as well. In the MSK field, we cannot think of a well-defined diagnosis as MSK diseases and therapeutic decisions often require a multi-disciplinary approach. Furthermore, MSK disorders also have a significant social and economic burden, both in terms of reduced work capacity and the need to care for patients with disabilities. In addition to family support, informal care, health and social care, innovative medical devices and technologies such as wearables and implantable devices or robotics are expected to play an increasingly important role in healthcare in the future.

1.1 Musculoskeletal health

According to the definition of the World Health Organisation, 'Musculoskeletal health refers to the performance of the locomotor system, comprising intact muscles, bones, joints and adjacent connective tissues. Musculoskeletal impairments comprise more than 150 different diseases/conditions that affect the system and are characterized by impairments in the muscles, bones, joints and adjacent connective tissues leading to temporary or lifelong limitations in functioning and participation.' (1)

1.1.1 The epidemiology of MSK diseases

The Global Burden of Disease survey in 2019 pointed out that approximately 1.7 billion people worldwide were living with an MSK disorder, with an overall prevalence that has been on a steadily increasing trend over the past decades, rising from 16.7% in 1990 to 20.4% in 2019. (2, 3) The prevalence increases with age, but MSK disorders also occur at younger ages, with adolescents and children being affected in addition to the elderly. (4, 5) Globally, the number of prevalent cases in the total population was highest for low back pain (7.6%), followed by osteoarthritis (7.1%), neck pain (3.0%%) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA; 0.3%). (3)

In 2019 (Hungarian Central Statistical Office), 32.0% of the Hungarian population aged 15 and over suffered from an MSK disorder, and this proportion increased with age,

reaching around 60.0% in the population aged 64 and over. (6) More women were affected in all age groups, and this gender gap increased with age, with 68.1% of women and 48.6% of men aged 64 and over suffering from an MSK disorder. The prevalence of chronic low back pain and arthritis was 19.8% and 15.2%, respectively, while RA or chronic arthritis affected 10.3%, chronic neck pain or cervical problems 8.4% and osteoporosis 5.6% of the population. (7)

1.1.2 The burden of musculoskeletal diseases

Musculoskeletal (MSK) disorders cause significant disease burden, ranking fifth worldwide in disability-adjusted life years (DALY; 5.9% of total DALYs) and first position in years lived with disability (YLD; 17.1% of total YLD). Among the MSK conditions listed in the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) Viz Hub database, the highest disease burden in 2019 was observed for low back pain (7.4% of total YLDs), followed by osteoarthritis (2.2% of total YLDs), neck pain (2.6% of total YLDs) and RA (0.3% of total YLDs). (3) In addition to reduced mobility and functioning, MSK problems are also associated with increased mortality, which has been demonstrated in patients with osteoporotic bone fractures, RA, osteoarthritis and reduced mobility. (8-11)

In addition to their negative health effects, MSK disorders also have a significant impact on work capacity and productivity, resulting in a high social and economic burden. Therefore, they increase direct health expenditure, reduce the number of productive life years, increase absenteeism from work, and contribute to early retirement and reduced financial security. (12, 13) People with MSK problems also often need care, either from a professional (formal care) or from a relative or friend (informal care). (14, 15)

1.2 Health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL)

Quality of life can be defined as an individual's subjective impression and satisfaction with his or her own life and its quality, including his or her role, opportunities, goals and expectations. (16) In this sense, quality of life is a broad concept shaped by the combination of individual, social and environmental factors. In my thesis, the focus is on a specific area, namely health-related quality of life, which I will introduce in the next chapters.

1.2.1 The concept of HRQoL

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is a narrower understanding of the concept of quality of life, focusing solely on the impact of health and health status and thus considering only health-related factors as determinants of quality of life. (17) A number of models have been developed to describe and analyse it, using slightly different approaches, although there is no general consensus on its exact definition. (18) The most common and widely accepted understanding is that HRQoL is a subjective, dynamically changing characteristic of the individual, encompassing physical, social and psychological factors of well-being and functioning. (17) (Figure 1)



Figure 1: The general concept of Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL)

Modern patient-centred medicine places great emphasis on understanding and incorporating patients' opinions, experiences and preferences into healthcare. (19, 20) It is, therefore, necessary to introduce measures outside of routinely collected physiological indicators and diagnostic imaging that allow the assessment of subjective factors that patients consider relevant and perceptible. (21, 22) Such subjective outcomes include patients' self-reports about how they feel, how much pain they have, how they experience physical and psychosocial changes due to their illness, and how they evaluate their own life and its quality in the light of their health status. A year in poor health is usually considered not as valuable as a year in good health. Therefore, to measure the actual

outcome of a disease or an intervention, it is essential to assess the quality of the life years affected by the disease or gained with successful treatment (and sometimes, the disorder or treatment impacts only the HRQoL but not the length of life). This is particularly relevant for chronic conditions where patients may spend years or decades living with a disorder. (23-25)

1.2.2 The measurement of HRQoL

A number of instruments have been developed to measure HRQoL, distinguishing between general and disease-specific instruments based on their field of application. (26, 27) The former assesses the general dimensions of health and can, therefore, be used in any condition and the general population, making it possible to make comparisons across different diseases and match to counterparts from the general public. Hence, one of their main characteristics is their universal applicability, but at the same time, they are less sensitive to differences between health states. (27) Some examples of well-known and widely used general HRQoL measures are the 36-Item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36), the Nottingham Health Profile (NHP), the Assessment of Quality of Life - 6D (AQoL-6D) and the EQ-5D-3L and EQ-5D-5L questionnaires. (28-32)

In contrast, specific instruments are designed to measure disease-, condition- or functionspecific aspects and their impact on HRQoL. In addition, there are also group-specific instruments designed to assess the health status of, for example, dermatological diseases (Dermatology Life Quality Index, DLQI), older people (Older people Quality of Life-7 domains, OQoL-7) or informal carers (Care-related Quality of Life instrument, CarerQol). (33-36) Their applicability is limited by their specificity, as they can only be used in certain conditions. However, they have a higher sensitivity, making them more suitable for assessing disease-specific problems and analyzing changes in the patient's (e.g., older people's, informal caregiver's) HRQoL. (27)

In practice, both general and disease-specific instruments have been used to measure HRQoL in MSK disorders. (37) For example, the EQ-5D, one of the most widely used general HRQoL questionnaires, was first validated in an MSK disease, namely in RA, but it is also used to assess HRQoL of patients with osteoarthritis and chronic back or neck pain. (38-42) In addition, disease-specific tools have been developed not only in RA (e.g., the Rheumatoid Arthritis-specific quality of life, RAQoL questionnaire), osteoarthritis

(e.g., the Osteoarthritis Knee and Hip Quality of Life questionnaire, OAKHQOL), but also in psoriatic arthritis (e.g., the Psoriatic Arthritis Quality of Life, PsAQoL questionnaire) and osteoporosis, for which a review identified nine different instruments. (43-46) However, a specific tool for the assessment of HRQoL in chronic back pain or neck pain is not yet available. (47, 48)

1.2.3 Standard health status and HRQoL measurement tools used in the Thesis

From the rich set of HRQoL measures available, I briefly present nine that I have used in empirical research, as well as other measures used in large international surveys.

1.2.3.1 Minimum European Health Module (MEHM)

The MEHM consists of three questions on self-perceived general health (very good, good, fair, bad, very bad), the presence of a long-standing (at least six months) illness or chronic morbidity (yes, no) and the presence of a long-standing (at least six months) activity limitation due to a health problem (not limited at all, limited but not severely, severely limited). (49)

1.2.3.2 EQ-5D-5L

The EQ-5D-5L was developed as a generic measure of HRQoL. It assesses five domains (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, anxiety/depression). (31) In all domains, respondents can indicate on a 5-level Likert-scale how much problem they have on the day of completion. On the scale, 1 indicates the lowest ('no problems'), and 5 indicates the highest ('unable to'/'extreme') level of problems. The scores given for each domain provide a health profile of the respondent. These profiles are combined with country-specific value sets to determine utility losses, from which the EQ-5D-5L index can be calculated. In our studies, the Hungarian value set was used (range -0.848-1, 1 means perfect health). (50) The EQ VAS is an additional item of the EQ-5D-5L that assesses self-reported health on a visual analogue scale (VAS) ranging from 0 to 100, representing worst to best imaginable health, respectively.

1.2.3.3 Health Assessment Questionnaire – Disability Index (HAQ-DI)

This questionnaire assesses the respondent's functional ability for the past week with 20 items across eight domains (dressing, arising, eating, walking, hygiene, reach, grip, and common activities). (51) The level of difficulty can be indicated on a scale ranging from 0 ('without difficulty') to 3 ('unable to do'). In addition, eighteen items are provided to indicate if any aid or device is required to do the activity mentioned in the domains. In

this study, the final score was calculated by taking the sum of the highest item scores in each domain and then dividing it by the number of domains (alternative scoring method - no correction for aids or devices). The resulting final score ranges from 0 to 3, with higher scores indicating worse functional ability.

1.2.3.4 Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ)

The Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) was designed as a specific questionnaire that can be used across different MSK conditions. (52) It measures respondents' MSK-related health for the last two weeks. Respondents are asked 14 questions about their symptoms and HRQoL (items 1-11), their understanding of and confidence in managing their condition (items 12-13), and the overall impact of the symptoms (item 14). Responses can be given on a 5-level Likert-scale, where 0 indicates the worst and 4 the best condition. Individual scores given for each item are added together to get the final score (range: 0 - 56). The higher the final score, the better the respondent's MSK health. There is an additional item that assesses the number of days in the past week spent with physical activity, which is not taken into account when calculating the final score. Since its release, the tool has been validated in several healthcare settings and translated into different languages, and we developed and validated the Hungarian version (Chapter 4.1). (53, 54)

1.2.3.5 World Health Organisation-Five Well-Being Index (WHO-5)

The WHO-5 evaluates well-being in the past two weeks by asking five questions about the respondent's mental health. (55) Responses are given on a 6-level scale, ranging from 0 to 5, with higher scores indicating better condition. The sum of the item scores is multiplied by 4, resulting in a final score ranging from 0 to 100. The higher the final score, the better the mental well-being.

1.2.3.6 Happiness VAS

The respondent's current happiness was assessed using a visual analogue scale, ranging from 0 to 100, indicating 'completely unhappy' and 'completely happy', respectively.

1.2.3.7 ICECAP-A and ICECAP-O

The ICECAP measurement tools were developed to assess well-being with a focus on capability for use in economic evaluation. The ICECAP-A can be used for adults (18+ old), and the ICECAP-O among the elderly (65+ old). (56, 57) Both versions measure the level of capabilities with five items reflecting different aspects of life, which are

formulated differently for the ICECAP-A (attachment, stability, achievement, enjoyment, autonomy) and ICECAP-O (attachment, security, role, enjoyment, control). Response options are operationalized on a 4-level scale, with 1 indicating 'no capability' and 4 indicating 'full capability'. The index score is calculated by using country-specific value sets. In our study, the UK tariffs were used as the Hungarian value set was not available at the time of the analysis. (57, 58)

1.2.3.8 Electronic Health Literacy Scale (eHEALS)

The eHEALS scale measures the respondent's self-perceived knowledge and skills to find, understand, evaluate and use health-related electronic information. (59) It consists of eight statements focusing on four domains (with two statements in all domains): awareness, searching for information, evaluation of health resources, and utilisation. The level of agreement with each statement can be indicated on a 5-level scale (1 – 'strongly disagree'; 5 – 'strongly agree'). To get the final score (range: 8-40), the individual item scores are added together, with higher scores indicating better electronic health (eHealth) literacy. In the study, the validated Hungarian version of the scale was used. (60)

1.2.3.9 Shared Decision Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9)

The SDM-Q-9 has been developed to assess the extent to which a patient is involved in making health decisions that affect his/her own health. (61) The questionnaire starts with two open-ended questions on a recent health problem discussed with a healthcare provider and the subsequent decision. Then nine statements on different aspects of the decision making situation are given to the respondent, and the level of agreement with each can be indicated on a 6-level scale (0 – 'completely disagree'; 5 – 'completely agree'). The final score (range: 0 - 45) equals the sum of the scores given for each statement. The higher the final score, the greater the level of involvement in decision making. The validated Hungarian version of the questionnaire was used in this study. (62)

1.2.3.10 Other measures

In addition to the standard instruments described in this chapter, other study-specific measures were used (European Health Interview Survey questions, visual analogue scales to measure knowledge of implantable medical devices (IMDs), single question assessment of the impact of IMDs on HRQoL, hypothetical decision making situation and willingness-to-pay task for innovative digital health technologies), which are presented in the corresponding methods chapters.

1.2.4 The importance of HRQoL in different areas of decision making in healthcare Both general and specific HRQoL measures are widely used to support regulatory, clinical, financial and health policy decisions. (63-69)

The marketing authorisation process of health technologies (medicines, medical devices, therapeutic and diagnostic procedures) includes the evaluation of their efficacy and safety. The use of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) in randomised clinical trials has become a standard that has also been proposed by regulatory authorities, recognising the importance of patient perspectives. (70-72) General preference-based HRQoL instruments such as the EQ-5D are widely used as secondary endpoints in clinical trials, for example, in RA, to measure health outcomes that patients consider relevant. (73) In addition, PROMs and HRQoL questionnaires are often used as primary, co-primary or surrogate endpoints in a number of trials, for example, in oncology or in chronic dermatological or MSK indications. (74-77)

There is also a growing emphasis on patient perspectives and HRQoL in therapeutic decision making, which is reflected in the recommendations of professional guidelines. (78, 79) For example, in its recommendations on the management of RA, the European Alliance of Associations for Rheumatology (EULAR) highlights the importance of PROs and the inclusion of patient perspectives in therapeutic decisions, which has been demonstrated to have a positive impact on medication adherence and satisfaction with therapy. (80-82)

HRQoL also plays a vital role in reimbursement decisions for new health technologies. In health economic analyses to inform health coverage decisions, the health gains associated with particular technologies are often expressed in a metric called qualityadjusted life year (QALY), in which the 'Q' is calculated using HRQoL. (83-85) Accordingly, both international Health Technology Assessment (HTA) organisations and the Hungarian Ministry of Human Capacities, in its guideline on economic evaluations in healthcare, recommend the use of QALY-based cost-utility analysis as the primary method for assessing the cost-effectiveness of new technologies. (86-88) In addition, the QALY can also be a valuable tool for informing resource allocation decisions, as it allows for a comprehensive assessment of different therapeutic areas. (84)

1.3 New perspectives and research gaps in the HRQoL assessment of musculoskeletal disorders

In the next chapters, I introduce five new perspectives from the past years in the HRQoL assessment of MSK disorders and point out research gaps that inspired my research aims.

1.3.1 New HRQoL assessment tools: combined measures, need for locally validated versions

Patient-centred care and informed decision making require knowledge of patients' conditions, disease activity, symptoms and HRQoL, as well as standardised, validated measures that allow these factors to be properly assessed. In response to these emerging needs, there has been considerable scientific activity in the field of outcome measurement. The Outcome Measures in Rheumatology (OMERACT) has been actively involved in the development and evaluation of new outcome measures since 1992 (89), but Hungary is also at the forefront of this work, not only in the Central and Eastern European region but also internationally. (90)

As a result, a great number of disease-specific measures have been developed (and adapted to Hungary) in the MSK field, and the applicability of generic questionnaires has been investigated in several well-defined MSK diagnoses (Chapter 1.2.2). However, for healthcare planning strategies, reimbursement and public health decisions, it is often needed to shift the focus from the individual patient level to a broader level, i.e., consider diseases as a joint group. Therefore, there is a growing demand for measurement tools that combine both disease symptoms and HRQoL and, in addition, can be applied to any diagnosis within a given disease group. (91, 92) This is particularly important in the field of MSK disorders, where the underlying causes can be very heterogeneous (e.g., arthritis, back pain), and different MSK problems may co-exist. (93) The new combined instruments are expected to measure all relevant aspects of MSK health and to be widely used in the MSK field to compare the health of patients with different problems. Such a comprehensive tool can be useful, for example, to evaluate and compare the effectiveness of physiotherapy in patients with different MSK problems (94, 95) or to compare the performance of different healthcare services aimed at MSK patients. (52, 96, 97)

To date, there are only a few disease group-specific measurement tools available in the MSK field that meet these requirements. An example is the Keele Musculoskeletal Patient Reported Outcome Measure (MSK-PROM), which was developed to monitor the health

status of patients across a wide range of MSK disorders. (98) The recently developed Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) was designed to assess patients' MSK-specific symptoms and HRQoL in different MSK conditions. (52) Since its first publication in 2016, it has been validated in a number of MSK patient groups and has been translated into several languages. (54) The performance and its growing popularity inspired us to make this tool available in Hungarian so that clinicians and healthcare decision-makers can comprehensively assess the condition of Hungarian MSK patients and make international comparisons.

1.3.2 New needs in epidemiology: musculoskeletal health of the population and of informal caregivers, prevalence of implantable medical devices

The medical field is constantly changing; new technologies are emerging due to technological advances, and, in parallel, decision-makers are faced with increasingly complex questions that can not be adequately addressed with traditional indicators, such as mortality and objective clinical indicators. (99) Over the past decades, HRQoL research has grown significantly, resulting in an increasing acceptance by physicians and researchers that, in addition to life expectancy, assessment of patient-reported outcomes (such as HRQoL) is necessary for the proper evaluation of medical and public health interventions. (100) As a result, HRQoL measurements have become a mandatory component not only of randomised controlled trials (RCTs), which form the basis for marketing authorisation, but also of epidemiological research, health services research and population surveys. (101)

As the importance of HRQoL measures grows, having country-specific population norms for already available tools is becoming increasingly important. Normative data show the average value and the distribution of a given characteristic, such as MSK health, in society and how this varies by socio-demographic subgroups. (102) Therefore, population norms can serve as a reference for objectively determining the health status of patients. (103) For example, these data can be used by health policymakers to examine disease burden in well-defined patient groups, map priorities between disease areas, and make international comparisons. (104) However, due to the scarcity of extensive populationbased studies, population normative data are often unavailable or incomplete for many HRQoL measures. For example, a recent systematic review showed that in the Central and Eastern European region, the EQ-5D, one of the most widely used generic HRQoL instruments, has been used in several studies across multiple disease areas. Yet, population norms were available in only three of the eight countries. (105) Researchers face an even more significant data gap in the case of more recently developed scales. The applicability of the MSK-HQ, described in the previous chapter, has been evaluated in several patient groups, but it has yet to be applied in a population survey. (54) This is how we became interested in the development of population normative data with the MSK-HQ measurement tool and also in the analyses of determining sociodemographic factors.

Identifying vulnerable subgroups within a population is a central issue in public health strategies, and MSK disorders are no exception. However, the group of informal care givers living with MSK disorders has received less attention so far. Informal care refers to the care provided without remuneration to a family member or a close relative or friend who needs help in performing everyday activities due to a chronic illness, disability or other health problem. (106) Informal caregiving is often a time-consuming, stressful and demanding task, especially for those who suffer from physical or mental health problems. (107, 108) These affected caregivers typically have less time and energy to focus on their own health and have lower adherence to their therapy, putting them at increased risk of disease development. (109) There have been many informal care studies from the perspective of MSK patients being cared for, but only little attention has been paid to informal caregivers suffering from MSK problems. Therefore, our idea was to identify and study the subgroup of informal caregivers living with MSK health problems via epidemiological studies in order to have a first idea about the size of the problem and a basis for targeted social interventions.

In recent decades, there has been a strong focus on drug therapies for MSK diseases, but less attention has been paid to other health technologies, such as medical devices. (110) Consequently, epidemiological data are incomplete in this field; very little is known about the prevalence and characteristics of patients living with an IMD due to an MSK problem. At present, data on the prevalence of IMDs are primarily available only from single-centre observational studies or IMD-specific registries. (111-113) Therefore, we considered a population-based, descriptive epidemiological survey of IMDs to be a pioneering study at the international level.

1.3.3 New areas of HRQoL measurement: re-use of health-related data, well-being and happiness outcomes, advanced digital health technologies and medical devices

When assessing HRQoL, we are often faced with the problem that good quality, directly measured HRQoL data are partially or completely missing from the studies. In these cases, the question arises whether HRQoL data can be estimated based on available health information. According to recent reports, the volume of health data recorded in the United States reached 150 exabytes (150 billion gigabytes) in 2011 and is projected to increase by several orders of magnitude in the coming years. (114) In the European region, the Eurostat routinely collects data on health, including MSK health, through the European Health Interview Survey (EHIS), which is conducted every five years. In Hungary, the Hungarian Central Statistical Office is responsible for the organised collection and evaluation of EHIS. (6, 7) The EHIS includes questions such as 'Can you walk 500 metres on a flat terrain?' but does not involve the respondent's perspective (i.e., how much the limited walking ability bothers his life) that could be assessed with validated HRQoL measurement tools. (115) National health surveys and registers are also rich repositories of similar health information, but only very few collect any HRQoL data using validated tools. This accumulated body of information can be used for a deeper assessment of the relationship between widely available health statistics and HRQoL, as well as mapping between HRQoL measures. With this knowledge, HRQoL values can be estimated and used in HTA assessments to support health coverage and public health decisions, thus speeding up HRQoL-based decision making. (88) The Development of efficient and valuable solutions to use health statistics to estimate HRQoL data has caught our interest, and we commissioned research to investigate the relationship between MSK statistics of EHIS and the MSK-HQ measurement tool.

Recently, another new area of research has opened up, as there has been a growing demand from decision-makers for a comprehensive understanding of patients' conditions, perspectives and personal experiences that goes beyond the assessment of health-related factors alone. (116) There is, therefore, a need to extend the assessment of HRQoL to aspects such as happiness, satisfaction with life, mental and capability well-being, family effects, informal care, experiences with care, and preferences for different care settings (117) As a consequence, new measurement tools have emerged in recent years that allow these aspects to be measured in a standard, valid and reliable way. (117) ICECAP is a

family of instruments designed to assess the capability well-being of the adult population (ICECAP-A), older people (ICECAP-O), children (ICECAP-CYP)) and people in the end-of-life setting (ICECAP-SCM). (56, 57, 118-120) In addition, there has been progress towards combined measures of health status and well-being, such as the recently developed EQ-HWB. (121) Accordingly, there is a growing popularity of the well-being approach and the ICECAP measures, but there has been only limited research in the field of MSK disorders, so little is currently known about how patients' well-being relates to their MSK health. (122-124) Therefore, we thought we would shed light on the relevance of MSK health and HRQoL to the increasingly important well-being outcomes in decision making.

Another area of HRQoL measurement that is currently under intensive research is complex health technologies, including digital technologies and medical devices or wearables, which present a number of methodological challenges for HRQoL assessment. (125-127) This is particularly true for high-risk devices, such as implantable medical devices (IMDs), e.g. knee and hip replacement, bone fixation and spinal implants, where a full assessment of safety, efficacy (and economic impact) is required. (128) One common problem is that for these devices, the available evidence is often of poor quality and patient-relevant outcomes are rarely captured. For example, a systematic review found that for hip and knee replacement surgery, only 9% of the 151 studies identified between 1995 and 2021 were RCTs. (129) In addition, patient outcomes were rarely assessed, with only 40% of implants having some PRO data published during this period. (129) But a similarly low rate of published PRO data was observed among European HTA offices as well. In a large-scale European survey conducted in 2021, 18 out of 20 HTA offices indicated that methodological problems with the assessment of complex health technologies, including advanced surgical interventions, digital technologies and medical devices, were mainly due to a lack of adequate data, in particular HRQoL data. (130) A further major methodological challenge in the assessment of medical devices is that their real-life performance and effectiveness depend not only on the device itself but also on how it is used so that the skills, knowledge and experience of users with the device have a significant impact on expected health outcomes. (131, 132) Reflecting the difficulties associated with the evaluation of medical devices, major international HTA organisations have formulated their own recommendations. (133-135) The relevance and growing importance of this topic is demonstrated by the roughly 100-fold increase in the number of annually published HTA reports on medical devices between 2000 and 2019. (110) Accordingly, we found it to be an important avenue for research to investigate the impact of IMDs on patients' HRQoL and its major influencing factors.

1.3.4 New aspects of patient involvement: shared decision making, electronic health (eHealth) literacy

Patients' role in healthcare is slowly changing as modern, patient-centred medicine places a strong emphasis on incorporating their perspectives and preferences into the treatment process. They are moving from a largely passive presence to becoming active participants in healthcare decisions. Accordingly, the patient's role is reinforced by clinical guidelines in many MSK conditions. For example, the EULAR guideline on the treatment of RA recommends among its overarching principles that treatment should be based on a joint decision between the rheumatologist and the patient. (82) Similarly, recommendations on the treatment of psoriatic arthritis and axial spondyloarthritis emphasise the importance of doctor-patient collaboration and shared decision making. (136, 137) However, how shared decision making should be made and how to measure the level of patient involvement is not elaborated upon and standardized. (138, 139) Furthermore, the measurement of shared decision making using standard, validated measures is in its infancy, and existing validated measures are little used or not used at all in the clinical practice. (139, 140) In addition, it is also not part of routine care (and not elaborated clinical guidelines) to assess patients' knowledge and awareness after they have been informed. This is a particularly important issue in the case of implantable medical devices (IMDs), where (unlike, for example, with biological therapies that are given under close clinical supervision) patients do not necessarily need to be regularly monitored after implantation (i.e. fixation of bone fractures with plates and screws). In these situations, patients have a great responsibility to wear their implant and to identify problems with the device that require medical intervention. In addition to knowledge and patient involvement, the growing uptake of electronic and digital technologies and devices has increased the focus on patients' eHealth literacy and its relationship with health outcomes, including HRQoL and patients' experiences of healthcare. (141-145) Therefore, we thought to investigate the level of shared decision making using a reliable and valid tool, the SDM-Q-9 questionnaire among individuals who have had a medical device implantation, to assess their knowledge and eHealth literacy in parallel and analyse how these relates to clinical and HRQoL outcomes of IMDs.

1.3.5 New innovative digital health technologies: patients' preferences and acceptance of artificial intelligence-based health technologies

Advanced digital devices and AI-based technologies are becoming widely used in healthcare. In orthopaedic surgery, especially in joint replacement, a number of robotassisted procedures have become available over the past two decades. (146) Available evidence suggests that, compared to traditional surgical procedures, these new technologies increase surgical accuracy, i.e., more accurate implant insertion and reduced limb length discrepancies have been observed in total hip replacement implantation. (147) However, it is currently unknown whether better accuracy is associated with improved health outcomes. For example, despite improved accuracy, no advantage in clinical efficacy has been observed for robot-assisted spine surgery and knee replacement implantation over conventional surgery. (148, 149) Robot-assisted systems are also widely used in rehabilitation and physiotherapy following MSK and neurological injuries, with encouraging results. (150-152) Artificial intelligence-based algorithms are now routinely used as part of imaging procedures in rheumatology, both for diagnosis and to aid therapeutic decisions. (153) A good example of this is the widespread use of AIenhanced ultrasonography to automate tissue recognition, joint and muscle lesion detection and classification, which can help improve the accuracy and consistency of diagnostic assessments and improve the performance of the diagnostic workup. (154) In addition, the use of robotics has also emerged in other areas of healthcare, such as social care and elderly care, where encouraging results have been achieved. (155, 156)

Given their widespread use in healthcare, the question arises as to the acceptance of and preferences for advanced health technologies. As patients are gradually gaining a prominent role in healthcare (117), their attitudes towards therapies and interventions can have a profound impact on therapeutic decisions and affect health outcomes. (157-159) Many studies have been conducted among health workers, who are the first to encounter new technologies and play a key role in their adaptation, but little is known about the acceptance of advanced health technologies in the population. (160-163) Therefore, we have turned to research the preferences and attitudes of society (patients and potential future patients) and how these relate to socio-demographic characteristics, current health

status, HRQoL and eHealth literacy. These data can support developers in designing medical robots and AI technologies, endorse marketing and implementation strategies, as well as financial and health policy decisions.

2 **OBJECTIVES**

The conceptualisation of our empirical research and the formulation of the objectives were based on the five new perspectives of HRQoL assessment described above. We attempted to find answers to our research questions in 2 large population surveys, the second of which had two parts, resulting in a total of three studies.

In the first study, one of the aims was to develop and validate the Hungarian version of the recently developed international Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ), thus making this combined measurement tool of MSK health and HRQoL available in Hungary. Regarding new areas of HRQoL measurement, we aimed to use the MSK-HQ to investigate the relationship between MSK health and statistical health data, standard HRQoL and well-being measures, thus creating new opportunities for better use of already available health data. Concerning new needs in epidemiology, the aim was to assess the population's MSK health with the MSK-HQ and to present population normative data. Also, we sought to assess the MSK health and HRQoL of informal caregivers, a largely unexplored social subgroup so far.

The second study was the first research module of the larger population survey mentioned above. As there is currently limited data on the prevalence of implantable medical devices (IMDs), including IMDs with MSK relevance, we aimed to fill this gap by obtaining detailed epidemiological data on IMDs among the general population. In addition, in terms of new areas of HRQoL measurement, we aimed to understand the impact of IMDs on patients' HRQoL, as there is also a need for more knowledge in this field. Concerning new aspects of patient involvement in medical decisions, we aimed to understand patients' perspectives by examining their awareness, eHealth literacy and experience of shared decision making and how these factors relate to the impact of IMDs on their lives.

In the third study, which was the second research module of the larger population survey mentioned above and focused on new innovative digital health technologies, we aimed to gain insight into the attitudes and preferences of the public towards robot-assisted surgery via the example of hip replacement surgery.

Our research goals and the two surveys are briefly summarised in Figure 2. Detailed study objectives of the surveys are listed in the next chapters.

- 2.1 Development and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ and assessment of the musculoskeletal health of the population
 - To develop and validate the Hungarian language version of the MSK-HQ measurement tool for Hungary and to assess its associations with routinely collected statistical MSK health data and other standard tools, including wellbeing measures (53, 54, 164, 165)
 - To establish a population norm with the MSK-HQ measurement tool and investigate the MSK health by socio-demographic characteristics (53)
 - To assess the MSK health and HRQoL of informal caregivers (53, 166, 167)
- 2.2 Living with implantable medical devices: focus on musculoskeletal patients
 - To assess the epidemiology of IMDs among the general population (168-172)
 - To assess the overall impact of IMDs on HRQoL (168, 170, 172)
 - To assess patients' knowledge of IMDs, eHealth literacy, involvement in shared decision making and how these factors are associated with the impact of IMDs on HRQoL (168-174)
- 2.3 Social preferences and attitudes towards the use of artificial intelligencebased technologies in hip replacement surgery
 - To assess stated preferences for robot-assisted hip replacement surgery, with special focus on the role of eHealth literacy of the population (175-177)
 - To explore the strength of preferences for conventional and robot-assisted hip replacement surgery using the willingness to pay method and analyse its determinants, including the eHealth literacy of the individuals (175-177)



Figure 2: Overview of research objectives and studies included in the thesis

3 METHODS

In the following chapters, I introduce the three population studies that form the basis of my thesis.

3.1 Development and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ and assessment of the musculoskeletal health of the population (Study 1)

We developed the Hungarian language version of the MSK-HQ according to the protocol of the developer (Oxford University Innovation). (178) Initial forward translations were carried out independently by three researchers, and after a thorough discussion, a consolidated Hungarian version was developed, which was then back-translated into English. After review by the developer, a second forward and back translation was carried out to address the issues identified. Finally, a pilot study involving five participants was conducted to examine interpretability, followed by proofreading and quality checks before acceptance of the final version. (54) We assessed the psychometric properties of the Hungarian MSK-HQ and the MSK health of the population in a larger study, the details of which I present in the following subchapters. (53)

3.1.1 Data collection and survey design

In 2020, an online cross-sectional study was carried out among the Hungarian general adult population. Participants were selected by quota sampling in order to obtain a representative sample in terms of sex, age, education and settlement type. Ethical approval was obtained from the Hungarian Medical Research Council (no. IV/565– 5/2020/EKU). In the survey, socio-demographic characteristics, such as sex, age, education, type of settlement, marital status, number of household members, household income, and employment status were recorded. The occurrence of specific MSK problems (walking difficulties, problems with low back, back or neck, and osteoarthritis of the knee or the hip) was surveyed using the questions of the European Health Interview Survey (EHIS). (179) Respondents were also asked whether they had used healthcare services (general practitioner or specialist visits in the last three months or hospital admission in the last year), needed informal care due to MSK problems, or provided informal care for someone having physical or mental health problems, or problems due to ageing. After completing the survey, a randomly selected subsample (N=50) repeated the MSK-HQ in order to assess its test-retest reliability. (53)

3.1.2 Standard measurement tools

Participants' MSK health was assessed with the Hungarian version of the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) that was developed by our research group following the protocol of and in collaboration with Oxford University Innovation. Other standard measurement tools were used to examine general health (MEHM), HRQoL (EQ-5D-5L), physical functioning (HAQ-DI) and well-being (ICECAP-A/-O, WHO-5, Happiness VAS). All standard instruments are introduced in chapter 1.2.3.

3.1.3 Statistics

The validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ was performed in accordance with the COnsensus-based Standards for the selection of health status Measurement INstruments (COSMIN) guideline. (180)

The characteristics of the study sample were examined with descriptive statistical methods. Differences in the MSK-HQ score by socio-demographic subgroups and self-reported general health state, mobility problems, MSK status, healthcare utilization and informal care status were analyzed with the Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal-Wallis tests.

The convergent validity was assessed by calculating Spearman's Rho ($r_s > 0.5$ strong, $0.5 \ge r_s \ge 0.3$ medium, $r_s < 0.3$ weak) between the MSK-HQ and other standard measures. (181) The internal consistency was measured with the Cronbach's Alpha (0.7-0.8 acceptable, 0.8-0.9 good, >0.9 excellent). (182) Test-retest reliability was examined with the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), ranging from 0 to 1 (level of agreement: <0.5 poor, 0.50-0.749 moderate, 0.75 – 0.90 good, >0.90 excellent). (183)

The association of the MSK-HQ total score with the EQ-5D-5L index (HRQoL), the HAQ-DI score (functional ability) and socio-demographic characteristics were examined in a multiple regression analysis. Three models were developed, and the independent variable was the MSK-HQ score in all models. Socio-demographic characteristics were included as background variables in all models. In addition, the EQ-5D-5L and the HAQ-DI were included as predictors in the first and second models, respectively, and together in the third model to assess how they influence each other's effect on the MSK-HQ score.

The significance level was p>0.05 in all statistical tests. 'Do not know' and 'Do not want to answer' responses were treated as missing values and omitted from the respective analysis.

3.2 Living with implantable medical devices: focus on musculoskeletal patients (Study 2a)

3.2.1 Data collection and survey design

This study is based on the first research module of a larger cross-sectional online survey that was conducted among the Hungarian general population aged 40 and older. (168) Selection of participants was done by quota sampling to ensure representativeness in terms of sex, age, education and type of settlement. Ethical approval was obtained from the Hungarian Medical Research Council (no. IV/5651-1/2021/EKU). All participants completed the whole survey. Apart from the research module-specific elements, socio-demographic characteristics (sex, age, education, type of settlement, employment status, marital status, number of household members, and household income) were recorded. In addition, the HRQoL and eHealth literacy of all participants were surveyed using standard outcome measurements described in Chapter 1.2.3. Specific to the first module, the following data were recorded:

- 1. The epidemiological characteristics of IMDs were investigated by presenting respondents with the following pre-defined set of 15 different IMDs, including implants with MSK relevance: bone fixation (screws or plates), hip replacement, knee replacement, spinal implant, intraocular lens, dental implant, dental bone graft (for dental implants), pacemaker, artificial heart valve, coronary stent, abdominal mesh, breast implant, glucose sensor, intrauterine device (only for females), other type (free-text response to indicate any type of IMD not listed above). If the respondent reported ever having had an IMD, the year of implantation and whether he/she was still living with it were recorded.
- 2. Participants who reported living with an IMD were asked if they had received written 'instructions for use' for their IMD. The four possible response options were: yes, and read it; yes, but did not read it; did not receive; do not remember.
- 3. The knowledge of IMDs was explored among participants living with an IMD in four domains: familiarity with general instructions for use ('How familiar are you with the instructions and lifestyle advice for the daily use of the implanted device?'), familiarity with safety requirements ('How familiar are you with the specific safety requirements for the implanted device you are using?'), ability to recognize need for medical control ('How confident are you that you will be able to recognise in time if there is a problem with the implanted device that needs

medical control?'), and the ability to recognize the need for information security or privacy control ('How confident are you that you will be able to recognise in time if there is a problem with the implanted device that requires information security or privacy control?' – only for participants who were living with an electronic IMD). The self-perceived level of knowledge in each domain could be indicated on a visual analogue scale (VAS) ranging from 0 (worst possible knowledge – 'not at all') to 10 (best possible knowledge – 'completely').

4. Those living with an IMD were asked about the impact of the device on their life ('How do you think your IMD affected your life overall? Including the circumstances of the implantation and the IMDs' impact on your quality of life and daily activities.'). Responses could be given on a 5-level scale: 1 – very negative, 2 – rather negative, 3 – neither negative nor positive, 4 – rather positive, 5 – very positive.

3.2.2 Standard measurement tools

In the study, participants' HRQoL, eHealth literacy and self-perceived involvement in shared decision making were assessed using the EQ-5D-5L, the eHEALS and the SDM-Q-9 instruments introduced in Chapter 1.2.3.

3.2.3 Statistical methods

The characteristics of the study sample (socio-demographics, health status, eHealth literacy) and the frequency of IMDs were analyzed with descriptive methods.

The mean age at implantation and the time of living with the device were calculated for each IMD type, and differences were compared with analysis of variance (ANOVA).

In the subsample of respondents living with an IMD, the means of each knowledge domain were calculated and analysed by socio-demographic subgroups, received instructions for use and IMD's impact on life using the Kruskall-Wallis test. Also, in the subsample living with an IMD, the correlation of knowledge with the standard outcome measures (EQ-5D-5L index, EQ VAS, eHEALS, SDM-Q-9) was examined with Spearman's Rho ($r_s > 0.5$ strong, $0.5 \ge r_s \ge 0.3$ medium, $r_s < 0.3$ weak). (181)

The consistency of the four knowledge scales was examined with Cronbach's Alpha (0.7-0.8 acceptable, 0.8-0.9 good, >0.9 excellent). (182) A combined knowledge score was calculated by averaging the scores on the four knowledge scales to represent respondents'

general knowledge. This combined score was used to analyze knowledge differences by IMD type and sex.

IMD's overall impact on life by IMD type was assessed with descriptive statistics. Also, factors associated with the impact of IMDs on participants' lives were explored by multiple linear regression in the subsample of respondents living with an IMD. All in all, seven regression models were developed. In all models, the dependent variable was IMD's overall impact on life. In order to test the effect of background characteristics, the following independent variables were added to models 1-3 and included in all subsequent models: IMD types (Model 1), socio-demographics and EQ-5D-5L index score (Model 2), combined knowledge score (Model 3). The eHEALS score, the received instructions for use and the SDM-Q-9 score were added in a mutually exclusive manner to models 4 - 7 to test how they individually affected IMD's impact on life when controlling for background characteristics. The final model (Model 7) included all of the above variables together.

'I do not know' and 'I do not wish to answer' responses were treated as missing values and were excluded from the respective analysis. The significance level was p<0.05 for all statistical tests.

3.3 Social preferences and attitudes towards the use of artificial intelligencebased technologies in hip replacement surgery (Study 2b)

3.3.1 Data collection and survey design

This study focused on the second research module of the larger cross-sectional online survey described in Chapter 3.2.1. (177)

In brief, respondents aged 40 and over were selected by quota sampling, and, in addition to their socio-demographic characteristics, their general health, HRQoL and eHealth literacy were assessed using standard measures.

Specific to the second module, social preferences and attitudes towards robot-assisted hip replacement surgery were assessed. Participants were placed in a hypothetical decision making situation. At first, they were asked to imagine that they have a hip joint disease, due to which their physician recommended to have hip replacement surgery. Basic information on the prosthesis and the surgery were briefly introduced. Then, participants were asked to choose which method they would prefer to perform the surgery: when the surgeon does the operation independently (conventional surgery) or when the surgeon uses robotic assistance to do the operation (robot-assisted surgery). It was explained that

the robot is able to do some phases of the operation completely independently, but the surgeon is present and can take over in case of emergency. Also, the two methods are equally safe and effective. The decision making situation was followed by a willingness-to-pay (WTP) task, in which participants were informed that they had been assigned to the surgery with the method contrary to their choice but that they could be reassigned to the preferred method for a fee. They were then asked to indicate in the following nine categories how much they would be willing to pay in return: 0 EUR; 0-28 EUR; 28-84 EUR; 84-140 EUR; 140-280 EUR; 280-560 EUR; 560-1120 EUR; 1120-2240 EUR; 2240< EUR (in the highest category the respondent had to indicate the exact amount).

3.3.2 Standard measurement tools

Participants' HRQoL and eHealth literacy were assessed with the EQ-5D-5L and eHEALS scales that were introduced in Chapter 1.2.3.

3.3.3 Statistical methods

Sample characteristics and participants' preferences (choice of methods and WTP) were analyzed with descriptive statistical methods. For the purpose of the analysis, participants' WTP was converted and handled as a continuous variable by taking the middle value of the categories. Participants' preferences and WTP were analyzed by socio-demographic subgroups, eHealth literacy (eHEALS) and HRQoL (EQ-5D-5L) using the Chi-squared, Kruskal-Wallis and the two-sample t-test. The effect size was measured with Cohen's D (small = 0.2; medium = 0.5; large = 0.8). (184)

Correlations were examined by calculating Pearson's correlation coefficient (r> 0.5 strong, $0.5 \ge r \ge 0.3$ moderate, r < 0.3 weak). (181) The association of WTP with the choice of surgery and background characteristics (socio-demographics, implant status, eHEALS, EQ-5D-5L, level of difficulty in answering questions about the task) was further explored in a multiple regression analysis.

'Do not know' and 'Do not want to answer' responses were treated as missing values and excluded from the analysis. The significance level was accepted as p<0.05 for all tests.

4 **RESULTS**

The results underlying the thesis are presented in the following chapters according to the three studies.

4.1 Development and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ and assessment of the musculoskeletal health of the population (Study 1)

4.1.1 Development and validation

We successfully developed the Hungarian language version of the MSK-HQ, which was accepted by the owner (Oxford University Innovation). (54, 185) Its validity was evaluated in a study involving N=2004 respondents (Study 1). (53) Their mean age was 48.3 (SD=16.6) years and 53.1% were female. Respondents' socio-demographic characteristics are presented in Table 1.

Table 1: Sample characteristics

^a There were 55 and 4 participants in age groups 75–84 and 85–94, respectively.

^b Conversion: 1 EUR = 348.35 HUF (the exchange rate in May 2020)

* For variables with missing values, the basis of comparison (100%) is the total sample size minus the number of missing data

GALI - Global Activity Limitations. Differences were tested using the Kruskal–Wallis and Mann–Whitney U test. Source: Hölgyesi et al, 2022. (53) (CC BY 4.0). The table is presented in its original form.

Variables	N	%	MSK-HQ score Mean (SD)
Total	2004	100.0*	44.13 (9.94)
Gender			p= .001
Men	940	46.9	44.85 (9.81)
Women	1064	53.1	43.50 (10.01)
Age ^a			p= .000
18-24	192	9.6	47.28 (7.71)
25-34	306	15.3	46.26 (8.29)
35-44	387	19.3	45.90 (8.95)
45-54	332	16.6	43.77 (10.54)
55-64	328	16.4	40.54 (10.87)
65-74	400	20.0	42.97 (10.42)
75+	59	2.9	41.17 (10.15)
Education			p= .000
Primary	608	30.3	42.12 (11.13)
Secondary	968	48.3	44.68 (9.34)
Tertiary	428	21.4	45.77 (8.97)
Settlement type			p=.000
Capital	358	17.9	45.89 (8.88)
Town	1053	52.6	44.26 (9.98)
Village	593	29.6	42.86 (10.29)
Married/having a partner			p= .857
Yes	1300	64.9	44.18 (9.74)
No	704	35.1	44.04 (10.30)

Variables	N	%	MSK-HQ score Mean (SD)
Living with someone in the household			p= .224
Yes	1686	84.1	44.24 (9.93)
No	318	15.9	43.59 (10.00)
Paid work			p= .000
Yes	1158	57.8	45.14 (9.21)
No	846	42.2	42.76 (10.71)
Household income category (not reported N=304) ^b			p= .000
0-718 EUR	752	44.2	41.78 (10.95)
718-1435 EUR	763	44.9	44.76 (9.23)
Above 1435 EUR	185	10.9	48.25 (7.27)

In the total sample, the mean MSK-HQ score was 44.1 (SD=9.9). Known-groups validity analysis indicated that MSK-HQ differed significantly by respondents' general health status and MSK health problems. (53) The MSK-HQ total score was lower for those having poorer self-perceived health, reporting the presence of a longstanding illness, or limitations in their daily activities for at least the past six months. It was also lower for respondents with more severe mobility problems, difficulties with walking 500 meters on ground level or walking up or down 12 steps. Those who reported having a specific MSK problem were in poorer MSK health; the MSK-HQ total score was lowest when the respondent had a diagnosed problem and was taking medication for it. In this subgroup, the MSK-HQ score differed significantly (ANOVA $F_{(4,392)}=24.56$, p<0.001) by the number of MSK problems: respondents with more concurrent problems had worse MSK health. In addition, lower MSK-HQ scores were recorded if a hospital admission in the past year or a visit to a specialist or general practitioner in the past three months was required because of an MSK problem. (164, 165) The results of the analysis of MSK-HQ scores by general and MSK health problems are shown in Table 2.

Table 2: MSK-HQ scores by general and MSK health problems

^a Questions of the Minimum European Health Module (MEHM) ^b Questions of the European Health Interview Survey (EHIS

* For variables with missing values, the basis of comparison (100%) is the total sample size minus the number of missing data

Differences were tested using the Kruskal–Wallis test. Source: Hölgyesi et al, 2022. (53) (CC BY 4.0). The table is presented in its original form.

Variables	Ν	%	Mean (SD)
Total sample	2004	100*	44.13 (9.94)
Self-perceived health ^a			p=.000
Very good	207	10.3	51.25 (6.25)
Good	809	40.4	48.63 (6.20)
Fair	784	39.1	41.65 (8.54)
Bad	186	9.3	29.38 (9.59)
Very bad	18	0.9	20.89 (12.51)
Long standing illness ^a (not reported N= 90)*			p=.000
No	899	47.0	48.55 (7.10)
Yes	1015	53.0	40.26 (10.63)
GALI ^a (not reported N= 32)			p= .000
Severely limited	106	5.4	26.75 (11.37)
Limited, but not severely	590	29.9	38.34 (9.17)
Not limited	1276	64.7	48.26 (6.79)
EQ-5D-5L: Mobility			p= .000
No	1254	62.6	49.06 (6.14)
Slight problems	414	20.7	41.11 (6.61)
Moderate problems	250	12.5	31.23 (8.12)
Severe problems	77	3.8	25.19 (7.89)
Unable to walk	9	0.4	17.89 (14.82)
Difficulty in walking 500 meters on level ground without the use of any aid ^b (not reported N= 18)			p= .000
No difficulty	1527	76.9	47.49 (7.18)
Any difficulty	459	23.1	33.05 (9.78)
Difficulty in walking up or down 12 steps ^b (not reported N= 13)			p=.000
No difficulty	1406	70.6	48.21 (6.58)
Any difficulty	585	29.4	34.46 (8.37)
Low back pain or chronic problem ^b (not reported N=146)			p=.000
No	1108	59.6	48.25 (7.72)
Yes, but not diagnosed	444	23.9	41.73 (8.51)
Diagnosed	98	5.3	39.10 (9.95)
Diagnosed and taking medicine	208	11.2	32.51 (10.56)
Back pain or chronic problem ^b (not reported N= 110)			p=.000
No	1342	70.9	47.14 (8.24)
Yes, but not diagnosed	277	14.6	41.43 (8.61)
Diagnosed	103	5.4	38.87 (9.62)
Diagnosed and taking medicine	172	9.1	30.48 (10.20)

Variables	N	%	Mean (SD)
Neck pain or chronic problem ^b			p=.000
(not reported N=106)			-
No	1389	73.2	46.85 (8.44)
Yes, but not diagnosed	310	16.3	41.14 (8.91)
Diagnosed	78	4.1	36.15 (10.81)
Diagnosed and taking medicine	121	6.4	30.00 (9.87)
Osteoarthritis of the knee ^b			p=.000
(not reported N=101)			-
No	1468	77.1	46.49 (8.67)
Yes, but not diagnosed	164	8.6	40.68 (9.13)
Diagnosed	114	6.0	39.77 (9.53)
Diagnosed and taking medicine	157	8.3	32.11 (10.36)
Osteoarthritis of the hip ^b			p=.000
(not reported N=98)			-
No	1602	84.1	46.20 (8.58)
Yes, but not diagnosed	81	4.2	38.95 (11.17)
Diagnosed	93	4.9	36.85 (10.48)
Diagnosed and taking medicine	130	6.8	30.97 (10.00)
Hospital admission in the last year due to			p=.000
MSK health problems (not reported N= 39)			
Yes	235	12.0	36.06 (11.48)
No	1730	88.0	45.35 (9.12)
Seen by a specialist in the last three months			p=.000
due to MSK health problems (not reported N= 42)			
Yes	322	16.4	36.63 (11.33)
No	1640	83.6	45.79 (8.84)
Seen by family doctor in the last three			p=.000
months due to MSK health problems (not			*
reported N= 34)			
Yes	231	11.7	34.87 (10.65)
No	1739	88.3	45.53 (9.02)

When testing the convergent validity of MSK-HQ with standard outcome measures, strong correlations were seen with the EQ-5D-5L index, the EQ VAS and the HAQ-DI. With the well-being measures (ICECAP-A/O and WHO-5) and the Happiness VAS, the correlations were moderate and weak, respectively. (53) Results are shown in Table 3.
Table 3: Spearman's correlations of MSK-HQ scores with the EQ-5D-5L index, EQ VAS, HAQ-DI, WHO-5, Happiness VAS, ICECAP-A (age group 18-64) and ICECAP-O (age group 65+) scores

All correlations are significant at the 0.05 level. Source: Hölgyesi et al, 2022. (53) (CC BY 4.0). The table is presented in its original form.

	MSK-HQ	EQ-5D-5L index score	EQ VAS	HAQ-DI	ICECAP-A	ICECAP-O	WHO-5 score	Happiness VAS
MSK-HQ	1.000	.788	.644	698	.471	.460	.443	.317
EQ-5D-5L index score	-	1.000	.661	702	.566	.474	.485	.388
EQ VAS	-	-	1.000	550	.517	.501	.517	.450
HAQ-DI	-	-	-	1.000	379	427	324	241
ICECAP-A	-	-	-	-	1.000	-	.628	.606
ICECAP-O	-	-	-	-	-	1.000	.606	.579
WHO-5 score	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.000	.621
Happiness VAS	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.000

In the item-level comparison, the MSK-HQ items showed strong and moderate correlations with the EQ-5D-5L and HAQ-DI items (p < 0.05 in all cases). An exception was the 12th item of the MSK-HQ, which exhibited weak correlations with all items of the two standard measures. For detailed results, see the article published by Hölgyesi et al. (53)

With a Cronbach's alpha of 0.924, the internal consistency of the MSK-HQ was considered good. (53) The MSK-HQ scores of the 50 respondents were found to be highly consistent between the first and second completion, as the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) indicated excellent test-retest reliability (ICC=0.936; 95% CI 0.884 – 0.964).

4.1.2 Population normative data and differences by socio-demographic characteristics In the total sample, the MSK-HQ score decreased by age, indicating worse MSK health in older individuals. (53) Results are shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Mean MSK-HQ scores by age groups and gender.

The number of respondents was N=192 in age group 18-24, N=306 in age group 25-34, N=387 in age group 35-44, N=332 in age group 45-54, N=328 in age group 55-64 and N=400 in age group 65-74. Source: The figure was created based on data published in Hölgyesi et al., 2022 (53) with the permission of the authors under the Creative Commons 4.0 license (CC BY 4.0).

Also, respondents with higher education and those who were living in a town or the capital tended to have higher MSK-HQ scores. Furthermore, having a higher income and a paid job were also associated with higher scores. Mean MSK-HQ scores by sociodemographic characteristics, work status and income are shown in Table 1.

The relationship between socio-demographic characteristics and MSK health was investigated in a regression analysis. It was revealed that being a woman, older age, lower educational level (primary compared to tertiary), and being in a relationship were associated with lower MSK-HQ scores. Conversely, living in the capital, as opposed to residing in a village, and having an income above 1435 EUR, compared to the lowest income category (0 – 718 EUR), were associated with higher MSK-HQ scores, indicating

better MSK health in these subgroups. These associations were significant in all three models, with the exception of age and marital status in Model 2. The results of the regression analysis are presented in the article published by Hölgyesi et al. (53)

4.1.3 Informal caregivers: MSK health and HRQoL

Respondents providing informal care for more than two weeks made up 11.9% (N=238) of the total sample; their mean age was 50.8 (SD=15.2) years and 63.9% of them were women. There were N=23 (1.1%) respondents in the total sample who were both informal caregivers and care recipients at the same time. (53, 166, 167)

Informal caregivers had significantly ($t_{(2002)}=4.21$, p<0.001) lower MSK-HQ scores (41.6, SD=10.7) than those who did not participate in such a service (44.5, SD=9.8). Similarly, HRQoL (EQ-5D-5L index) and functional status (HAQ-DI score) were also significantly worse in this subgroup ($t_{(2002)}=-3.63$, p<0.001 and $t_{(2002)}=-5.22$, p<0.001, respectively). (166, 167) Results are shown in Table 4.

Table 4: General health, mobility problems, HRQoL and functional status by informal caregiving situation

Percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding. Source: The table was created based on data published in Hölgyesi et al., 2022. (166) with the permission of the authors under the Creative Commons 4.0 license (CC BY 4.0).

	Total sample	Informal caregiver	Not informal caregiver
Ν	2004	238	1766
MEHM questions			
Self-perceived health: bad / very bad	10.2%	12.6%	9.9%
Long standing illness: yes	50.6%	65.5%	48.6%
Global Activity Limitation Indicator: severely limited / limited but not severely	34.7%	47.1%	33.1%
EQ-5D-5L Mobility domain			
No problems	62.6%	47.5%	64.6%
Slight problems	20.7%	28.2%	19.7%
Moderate problems	12.5%	21.0%	11.3%
Severe problems	3.8%	2.9%	4.0%
Unable to	0.5%	0.4%	0.5%
EQ-5D-5L index score; mean (SD)	0.87 (0.20)	0.83 (0.20)	0.88 (0.19)
HAQ-DI score; mean (SD)	0.28 (0.47)	0.42 (0.52)	0.26 (0.46)

4.2 Living with implantable medical devices: focus on musculoskeletal patients (Study 2a)

In the following chapters, I present the descriptive epidemiological results, specifically focusing on IMDs with MSK relevance. Accordingly, figures show data for persons living with MSK implants. Results of the subgroup analyses, correlation analysis and regression were performed for all respondents living with any type of IMD (as described in Chapter 3.2.1), and results are presented accordingly.

4.2.1 Epidemiology of IMDs

All in all, 1400 respondents completed the survey. Their mean age was 58.3 (SD=11.1) years, and 53.7% were women. Detailed socio-demographic characteristics of the sample have been published by Hölgyesi et al. (168) In the total sample, 41.7% had had at least one IMD in their life, with 9.3%, 2.3% and 0.4% who had had two, three or more, respectively. The most common of all IMDs studied was bone fixation, with 12.3% of respondents having at least once, while hip, knee and spinal implants accounted for 2.4%, 1.4% and 1.4%, respectively. Respondents' average age at the first implantation was 45.2 (SD=16.2) years, which differed by IMD type (p<0.001). In the case of bone fixation, the average age at surgery was 40.5 (SD=16.4) years. Still, for other MSK implants, the intervention was generally performed at an older age, ranging from 53.4 (SD=14.1) years for spinal implant to 58.3 (SD=10.8) years for hip replacement. At the time of the survey, N=433 (30.9% of the total sample) lived with at least one IMD, out of which 21.0%, 4.2% and 0.2% were wearing two, three, or more devices, respectively. Of those living with an IMD, 17.8% reported having bone fixation. The occurrence of hip, knee and spinal implants was lower in this subsample (7.4%, 4.4% and 4.2%, respectively). The average duration of living with the device was 11.5 (SD=10.5) years for bone fixation, 8.4 (SD=7.7) years for hip replacement, 7.2 (SD=6.0) years for knee replacement and 10.1 (SD=7.9) years for spinal implant. (168-170) The epidemiological characteristics of the persons living with IMDs are presented in Table 5.

Table 5: Epidemiological characteristics of participants with IMDs

Source: Hölgyesi et al, 2023. (168) (CC BY 4.0) The order of the devices has been modified, and device categories have been added compared to the original version.

Category	Device	Participants who have ever had IMD N=583		Age at implantation (ever had)		Subsample currently living with IMD N=433		Duration of IMD in the subsample living with IMD	
		N	% of the total sample	Mean (years)	SD	Ν	% of subsample	Mean (years)	SD
Trauma	Bone fixation	172	12.3	40.5	16.4	77	17.8	11.5	10.5
	Hip replacement	33	2.4	58.3	10.8	32	7.4	8.4	7.7
Joints	Knee replacement	19	1.4	55.3	10.3	19	4.4	7.2	6
	Spinal implant	19	1.4	53.4	14.1	18	4.2	10.1	7.9
Dentistry	Tooth implant	141	10.1	51.5	13.4	134	30.9	8.4	7.9
	Bone graft for dental implant	35	2.5	51.5	12.3	32	7.4	7.2	6.2
Cardiovascular	Coronary stent	27	1.9	59.4	10.5	26	6.0	7.6	5.6
system	Pacemaker	15	1.1	53.9	17.9	15	3.5	8.8	7
system	Artificial heart valve	6	0.4	48.2	20.4	6	1.4	14.3	11.3
Contraception	Intrauterin device	131	9.4	32.9	8	18	4.2	9.2	10.4
Eye	Intraocular lens	119	8.5	61.3	12.7	116	26.8	6.8	7.1
Abdomen	Abdominal surgical mesh	38	2.7	55.4	11.9	37	8.5	8.4	6
Breast	Breast implant	13	0.9	42.5	8.7	13	3.0	12.6	10.3
Implantable biosensors	Implantable Glucose		0.3	31.8	24.3	1	0.2	13	-
Oth	ner	29	2.1	49.2	14.8	19	4.4	11.1	8.6

The analysis of the lifetime prevalence of IMDs by gender and age groups showed a positive age-related tendency. In men, bone fixation was more common in younger age groups, but in women, it was more evenly distributed. The prevalence of orthopaedic implants increased with age for both genders. The results of the analysis are shown in Hölgyesi et al. 2022. (168)

4.2.2 The overall impact of IMDs on patients' HRQoL

More than two-thirds (69.7%) of participants living with an IMD reported that their device positively impacted their lives. Almost a fifth (19.4%) indicated a neutral impact, while only a tenth (10.9%) said they experienced negative effects. For bone fixation, neutral life impact was reported to be relatively high (47%). Other IMDs with MSK relevance were generally more positively rated. The share of respondents whose implant had a positive life impact was the highest for hip replacement (78%). For knee replacement and spinal implant, a lower proportion of positive effects were observed (58% and 55%, respectively). (168, 170, 172) Results for IMDs with MSK relevance are shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Respondents' views about IMD's overall impact on their life

Source: Hölgyesi et al, 2023. (168) (CC BY 4.0) The figure has been modified to show only IMDs with MSK relevance.

4.2.3 Patients' knowledge of IMDs, eHealth literacy and involvement in shared decision making

In the total sample (N=1400), the mean EQ-5D-5L index and EQ VAS score were 0.83 (SD=0.26), and 75.1 (SD=19.9), while the mean eHEALS score was 28.1 (SD=5.8). Shared decision making was only assessed in the subgroup living with an IMD (N=433), the mean SDM-Q-9 was 32.0 (SD=11.8). In the subsample wearing an IMD, respondents' IMD-related knowledge was fairly similar in the four domains, ranging from 5.5 (SD=3.8) points for safety requirements to 6.5 (SD=3.3) points for instructions and lifestyle advice for the daily use as measured on the VAS scales (range: 0-10). (168, 169, 171)

Of those living with an IMD (N=433), 33.5% reported that they had previously received and read written instructions for use, and only 3.0% reported that they had received but not read it. Those who did not remember receiving written instructions accounted for 17.3% of the sample, while the vast majority, 46.2%, reported receiving no instructions at all. The proportion of respondents who received instructions and read them was 16% for knee replacement, closely followed by bone fixation with 19%. In the case of spinal implant and hip replacement, 33.0% and 47% reported having received and read the instructions, respectively. The results of the detailed analysis of the received instructions for use by IMD type were published by Hölgyesi et al. (168)

When respondent's IMD-specific knowledge was analysed along background variables in the subsample living with an IMD (N=433), no significant differences were observed by socio-demographic characteristics and income (except for recognising the need for medical control, which differed by income quintiles). However, respondents who received instructions for use or reported a positive life impact of their IMD had a higher level of self-reported knowledge (p<0.001 for both) in all but one domain (ability to recognise the need for information security or privacy control did not differ by any subgroups). (168, 170) The results of the subgroup comparison are published in Hölgyesi et al. 2022. (168) Respondents' knowledge by IMD type and gender showed numerical, but statistically not significant, differences. (168, 172) Results for IMDs with MSK relevance are presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Patients' knowledge regarding living with IMDs with MSK relevance as measured on visual analogue scales (0 – 'not at all'; 10 – 'completely').

Numbers outside of columns represent the sum of the corresponding VAS scales. Results for 'Ability to recognise need for information security or privacy control' are not shown as it was reported only by patients wearing electronic devices. Number of women and men was N=15 and N=17 for hip replacement, N=12 and N=6 for spinal implant, N=13 and N=6 for knee replacement, N=34 and N=43 for bone fixation. Source: Hölgyesi et al, 2023. (168) (CC BY 4.0) The figure has been modified to show only IMDs with MSK relevance.

The associations of respondents' knowledge, standard measures of HRQoL, current health state and eHealth literacy were analysed in the subsample living with an IMD (N=433). The knowledge scales were weakly correlated with the EQ-5D-5L index and the EQ VAS. Concerning respondents' eHealth literacy, the eHEALS weakly correlated with all the knowledge VAS scales, the EQ-5D-5L and the EQ VAS. In terms of participation in the decision making about IMD surgery, the SDM-Q-9 also weakly correlated with the EQ-5D-5L and the EQ VAS, although its correlation with the knowledge scales was moderate. The fourth knowledge domain (ability to recognise the need for information security or privacy control did not differ by any subgroups) was an exception in the correlation analysis, as it did not show a significant correlation with any of the other measures. The eHEALS and the SDM-Q-9 correlated weakly. The detailed results of the correlation analysis are published in Hölgyesi et al. 2022. (168, 169, 171)

The regression analysis revealed that in the subsample living with an IMD (N=433), tertiary education and EQ-5D-5L index score were positively associated with IMD's impact on the respondent's life (p<0.05 in Models 2-7). Respondent's knowledge of IMDs also showed a significant positive association (p<0.05, Models 3-5). However, it lost significance in Models 6 and 7, when SDM-Q-9 was also included, while the latter was positively associated with IMD's impact on life in both models (p<0.05). Among trauma and orthopaedic implants, only bone fixation showed a negative association, which was consistently significant in all models. The detailed results of the regression analysis are published in Hölgyesi et al. 2022. (168)

- 4.3 Social preferences and attitudes towards the use of artificial intelligencebased technologies in hip replacement surgery (Study 2b)
- 4.3.1 Stated preferences for robot-assisted hip replacement surgery

All in all, 1400 respondents were involved in the study with a mean age of 58.3 (SD=11.1) years. In the hypothetical decision-making situation, more respondents chose the robot-assisted surgery over the conventional surgery (N=762, 54.4% vs. N=638, 45.6%). The analysis by socio-demographic subgroups revealed significant differences by sex, education and settlement type. A higher proportion of those who opted for conventional surgery were women, had lower education and lived in a village compared to those choosing robot-assisted surgery. Also, respondents opting for conventional surgery were more likely to be in lower income categories. The mean eHEALS score differed between the two subgroups, although the effect size was small as measured with Cohen's D (D=-0.159, 95% CI -0.264 - -0.053). The mean EQ-5D-5L index and EQ VAS scores did not differ significantly, indicating comparable general health states in the two subgroups. (175, 176) Respondents' characteristics in the total sample and by the preferred method of surgery are shown in Table 6.

Table 6: Sample characteristics

Statistical tests were used to investigate whether subgroups opting for either conventional or robot-assisted surgery differed in terms of demographic characteristics. ^aChi-square test; ^bMann-Whitney U test; ^ctwo sample t-test; ^d 'Do not know' and 'Do not want to answer' responses were treated as missing values and excluded from the analysis.

Source: Hölgyesi et al, 2024. (177) (CC BY 4.0) Compared to the original table, only data for the hip replacement surgery task is shown.

	Total sample	Preferred method of surgery		
		Conventional	Robot-assisted	
Variables	N (%)	N (%)		
Total	1400 (100)	638 (100)	762 (100)	
Sex		р=0.(001 ^a	
Men	648 (46.3)	263 (41.2)	385 (50.5)	
Women	752 (53.7)	375 (58.8)	377 (49.5)	
Age group, years		p=0.101 ^b		
40-44	190 (13.6)	99 (15.5)	91 (11.9)	
45-49	188 (13.4)	88 (13.8)	100 (13.2)	
50-54	163 (11.6)	74 (11.6)	89 (11.7)	
55-59	198 (14.1)	95 (14.9)	103 (13.5)	
60-64	227 (16.2)	87 (13.6)	140 (18.4)	
65-69	182 (13.0)	83 (13.0)	99 (13.0)	
70-74	127 (9.1)	52 (8.2)	75 (9.8)	
75+	125 (8.9)	60 (9.4)	65 (8.5)	

	Total sample	Preferred method of surgery			
	-	Conventional	Robot-assisted		
Education		p<0.001 ^b			
Primary	410 (29.3)	228 (35.7)	182 (23.9)		
Secondary	533 (38.1)	244 (38.2)	289 (37.9)		
Tertiary	457 (32.6)	166 (26.0)	291 (38.2)		
Health education		p=0.	213ª		
Yes	103 (7.4)	53 (8.3)	50 (6.6)		
No	1297 (92.6)	585 (91.8)	712 (93.4)		
Settlement type		p=0.	020 ^b		
Capital	315 (22.5)	131 (20.5)	184 (24.1)		
Town	749 (53.5)	337 (52.8)	412 (54.1)		
Village	336 (24.0)	170 (26.7)	166 (21.8)		
Married/having a partner		p=0.	928 ^a		
Yes	854 (61.0)	390 (61.1)	464 (60.9)		
No	546 (39.0)	248 (38.9)	298 (39.1)		
Living with someone in the household		p=0.	540ª		
Yes	1064 (76.0)	480 (75.2)	584 (76.6)		
No	336 (24.0)	158 (24.8)	178 (23.4)		
Paid work (missing=30)		p=0.	451 ^a		
Yes	1287 (91.9)	581 (91.1)	706 (92.7)		
No	83 (5.9)	41 (6.4)	42 (5.5)		
Household income category ^d (missing=217)		p=0.001 ^b			
1st quintile	261 (18.6)	144 (22.6)	117 (15.4)		
2nd quintile	224 (16.0)	107 (16.8)	117 (15.4)		
3rd quintile	237 (16.9)	102 (16.0)	135 (17.7)		
4th quintile	201 (14.4)	84 (13.2)	117 (15.4)		
5th quintile	260 (18.6)	98 (15.4)	162 (21.4)		
Any implant ever		p=0.	237 ^a		
Yes	584 (41.7)	277 (43.4)	307 (40.3)		
No	816 (58.3)	361 (56.6)	455 (59.7)		
eHEALS score; mean (SD)		p=0.	003 ^c		
	28.1 (5.8)	27.6 (6.0)	28.5 (5.5)		
EQ-5D-5L index score; mean (SD)		p=0.	070°		
	0.83 (0.26)	0.82 (0.28))	0.84 (0.25)		
	0.65(0.20)				
EQ VAS; mean (SD)	0.85 (0.20)	p=0.			

4.3.2 Strength of preferences towards conventional and robot-assisted hip replacement surgery

In the willingness to pay task, nearly one-third of respondents were not willing to offer any amount of money in exchange to make the hip replacement surgery with their originally chosen method. (175, 176) The distribution of willingness to pay in the sample is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Distribution of willingness to pay by the chosen method of hip replacement surgery.

* Proportions are expressed as the percentage of respondents who reported any difficulty in the respective subgroup. Percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding. Source: The figure was created based on data published in Hölgyesi et al., 2024. (177) (CC BY 4.0)

The average amounts offered (including respondents with zero WTP) were 178.5 (SD=429.5) EUR for the conventional and 170.4 (SD=300.0) EUR for the robot-assisted surgery, but the difference was not significant (p=0.153). The analysis by sociodemographic characteristics revealed differences by education and income quintiles, with higher WTP for respondents having higher education and higher income in both subgroups. (175, 176) The detailed results are shown in Table 7.

Table 7: Subgroup analysis of willingness to pay

Differences in WTP were tested with Kruskal-Wallis tests. ^a 'Do not know' and 'Do not want to answer' responses were treated as missing values and excluded from the analysis. Source: Hölgyesi et al, 2024. (177) (CC BY 4.0) Compared to the original table, only data for the hip replacement surgery task is shown.

	Preferred method				
	of surgery				
Variables	Conventional	Robot-assisted			
	(N=638)	(N=762)			
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	mean (SD)			
Total	1	=0.153			
~	178.5 (429.5)	170.4 (300.0)			
Sex	p=0.311	p=0.485			
Men	168.4 (405.7)	167.8 (268.9)			
Women	185.6 (445.9)	173.0 (329.0)			
Age group, years	p=0.001	p=0.085			
40-44	115.3 (228.7)	184.1 (293.6)			
45-49	168.3 (395.8)	143.5 (247.4)			
50-54	103.4 (228.1)	114.6 (214.4)			
55-59	145.9 (372.9)	145.7 (282.5)			
60-64	189.4 (334.7)	177.4 (306.0)			
65-69	156.5 (275.6)	160.2 (244.7)			
70-74	317.8 (759.9)	219.3 (374.1)			
75+	338.2 (753.5)	251.5 (436.5)			
Education	p=0.013	p=0.026			
Primary	124.2 (290.1)	146.3 (288.0)			
Secondary	181.4 (478.3)	144.2 (232.5)			
Tertiary	249.3 (500.9)	211.4 (357.7)			
Health education	p=0.531	p=0.300			
Yes	272.3 (653.4)	210.9 (330.3)			
No	170.0 (402.9)	167.5 (297.8)			
Settlement type	p=0.832	p=0.028			
Capital	198.5 (406.9)	204.1 (310.9)			
Town	193.9 (500.4)	178.2 (327.7)			
Village	132.7 (260.1)	113.4 (188.9)			
Household income category ^a	p<0.001	p<0.001			
(missing=217)	P toto 2	k			
1st quintile	117.2 (288.2)	83.8 (195.9)			
2nd quintile	79.5 (118.9)	121.5 (219.3)			
3rd quintile	249.8 (640.8)	176.7 (313.5)			
4th quintile	217.3 (330.9)	174.4 (252.8)			
5th quintile	311.4 (666.8)	239.2 (381.0)			
Any implant ever	p=0.058	p=0.058			
Yes	200.3 (455.3)	188.4 (311.3)			
No	161.8 (408.6)	158.2 (291.9)			

In the total sample, respondents' WTP was significantly correlated with age (r=0.107, p<0.001 and net income per capita (r=0.162, p<0.001), but not with the eHEALS score (r=0.019, p=0.481), nor with the EQ-5D-5L index (r=0.018, p=0.496) and the EQ VAS score (r=0.046, p=0.084). (175, 176)

In the multiple linear regression, respondents' choice of method was significantly associated with willingness to pay, being lower for those opting for the robot-assisted surgery. Age and income also showed a positive association. Contrary to the results of the subgroup analysis, education failed to show a significant effect. Furthermore, neither the eHEALS score nor the EQ-5D-5L index score were associated with respondents' willingness to pay. The results of the regression analysis are shown in more detail in the manuscript by Hölgyesi et al., published in 2024. (177)

5 DISCUSSION

In my thesis, I focused on five new perspectives of HRQoL assessment in patients with MSK disorders: new HRQoL assessment tools, new needs in epidemiology, new areas of HRQoL assessment, new aspects of patient involvement, and new innovative digital health technologies. Based on these perspectives, a total of eight research objectives were formulated, which were investigated in three population surveys.

In the first study, the development and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ was carried out, and the association of MSK health with statistical health data and standard tools such as well-being measures was investigated. Also, the study was the first to establish population normative data with the MSK-HQ, and it made it possible to assess the MSK health of the Hungarian population, including informal caregivers.

The second study successfully assessed the prevalence of implanted medical devices (IMDs) with MSK-relevance in the Hungarian population over 40 years of age and their overall impact on the patients' lives. In addition, patients' awareness of their IMD, eHealth literacy and involvement in the decision making about the implantation was investigated, and it was also assessed how these factors are associated with the impact of IMDs on patients' lives.

The third study assessed public attitudes and preferences towards advanced digital health technologies. It provided data on the preference for robot-assisted hip replacement surgery. Also, it assessed the strength of public preferences using the willingness-to-pay method.

The following chapters discuss the results in detail according to the three studies.

5.1 Development and validation of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ and assessment of the musculoskeletal health of the population

Our results have proved the validity of the Hungarian language version of the MSK-HQ. (53) It had excellent internal consistency, comparable to that reported in previous studies. (52, 96, 186-188) It also showed excellent test-retest reliability, with an ICC of 0.936, which was slightly higher than that observed by other authors. (52, 96, 186-190) However, this difference can be explained by the short time interval between test and retest measures used in our study.

The MSK-HQ performed well when analysing known groups' validity as it could make a distinction between subgroups hypothesised to differ in their level of MSK health. (53, 164, 165) Respondents who reported walking difficulties or specific MSK problems in the European Health Interview Survey (EHIS) questions had significantly lower MSK-HQ scores than those who did not have such problems. (115) The lowest scores (and consequently the worst MSK health) were found for back pain, neck pain and hip osteoarthritis. In addition, the results confirm that MSK problems are also associated with poorer general health, as the MSK-HQ score was significantly lower if the respondent had poorer self-perceived health, reported the presence of a longstanding illness, or limitations in the daily activities according to the Minimum European Health Module (MEHM) questions. (49) It should be emphasised that in previous studies, the MSK-HQ has only been applied to well-defined patient groups and has not yet been used in a population study. The relationship confirmed between MSK-HQ and routinely collected MSK health statistics can be used as a good proxy to estimate MSK-HQ scores from a time series of EHIS data.

The MSK-HQ also showed a good convergent validity that has been examined against several widely used standard measurement tools. (53) Similarly to previous studies, we also observed that the EQ-5D-5L, EQ VAS and HAQ DI strongly correlated with the MSK-HQ, indicating that general HRQoL and physical functioning are associated with MSK health. (52, 96, 188, 191, 192) To broaden the scope of our study, we also examined the correlation of MSK-HQ with widely accepted and used well-being measures, as these have been less frequently applied in MSK studies, and therefore the relationship between MSK health and well-being has remained underexplored. (122, 123) The MSK-HQ showed moderate correlation of MSK health the ICECAP-A/O, the WHO-5 and the Happiness VAS, suggesting a weaker association of MSK health with well-being compared to what has been seen with HRQoL and physical functioning. This observation can be explained by the fact that well-being does not only include aspects related to health, and therefore, these measures allow for a broader assessment of a person's condition. (193, 194) Our results also show that in addition to MSK health, it is recommended to assess well-being as a complementary measure.

This study was the first to provide population normative data with the MSK-HQ and to examine its association with socio-demographic characteristics on the general population

level. (52, 96, 187-191, 195) The MSK-HQ score, and therefore MSK health, decreases with age, and women generally have lower MSK health than men. (53) However, a slight increase was observed among respondents aged 65 and over. This may be due to the fact that the online sample was guaranteed to be representative up to 65, so it is assumed that above this age, respondents in better health than the population average were involved. Previous studies on well-defined patient groups have not provided information on MSK health by socio-demographic characteristics, and population-level data with the MSK-HQ are not yet available for international comparisons. (52, 94, 96, 187-189, 191, 192, 195, 196) However, similar observations have been made previously with other standard instruments. The level of functional disability as measured with the HAQ-DI increases with age, and women have slightly worse functional status. (197) In addition, with the Musculoskeletal Function Assessment (MFA), it has been observed in a population sample that older people and women generally have poorer MSK health. (198, 199) One of the strengths of our study is that we conducted a multiple regression analysis to better understand the relationship between socio-demographic characteristics and MSK health. The results not only confirmed the role of age and gender but also drew attention to the importance of education, residence and income. Furthermore, general HRQoL (EQ-5D-5L index) and physical functioning (HAQ-DI score) were also associated with the MSK-HQ score and, consequently, with MSK health. Our results contribute to the existing body of knowledge, as no such comprehensive multivariate analysis has been performed with the MSK-HQ in a population sample. Nonetheless, our observations align with a previous study in patients presenting to primary care due to MSK pain, which also demonstrated the predictive ability of several sociodemographic factors, physical activity and HRQoL (EQ-5D index) for the MSK-HQ score. (200)

The proportion of informal caregivers in the total sample was remarkable (11.9%), with every tenth of them being an informal care recipient at the same time. (166, 167) Previous estimates of the proportion of informal caregivers in the Hungarian population show considerable variation. According to the European Social Survey, 8.2% of people aged 18 and over were informal caregivers in 2014. (201) In contrast, Baji et al. found a rate of 14.9% in a representative population sample, but other authors have reported an even higher prevalence (25.5%). (202, 203) Differences may be partly explained by the different sampling methods and definitions of informal caregiving used in the studies. In

addition, alongside positive experiences, negative effects of caregiving on mental and physical health, and high levels of physical strain and musculoskeletal discomfort have also been described. (107, 108, 204, 205) A possible explanation for this phenomenon is that informal caregiving can be a mentally and physically demanding task that can lead to significant fatigue and MSK discomfort and is often associated with poor health behaviours. (107, 108) Accordingly, we also observed that informal caregivers in our study had worse general health status (indicated on the MEHM questions) and poorer physical functionality. Moreover, as one of the strengths of our study, we comprehensively assessed MSK health using the MSK-HQ and found that informal caregivers generally have worse MSK status than those who are not caregivers. Therefore, our results provide new evidence and highlight that the proportion of MSK patients providing informal care in the Hungarian population is remarkable. In my opinion, this social subgroup deserves more attention, and further studies are recommended to gain a better insight into their health problems and to identify unmet needs, as targeted interventions can only be tailored to well-defined patient groups.

5.2 Living with implantable medical devices: focus on musculoskeletal patients We found that nearly one in three people in the Hungarian population aged over 40 years live with at least one IMD. (168, 169, 171) Bone fixation accounted for a significant proportion of all IMD types studied, but the prevalence of other IMDs with MSK relevance, such as hip, knee and spinal implants, is also notable. (168, 170, 172) The likelihood of having an IMD increased with age. Accordingly, hip, knee and spinal implants were more common in older people, but bone fixation was typically inserted at a younger age. One of the strengths of our study is that we measured the prevalence and baseline characteristics of patients with IMDs, including those who have implants for MSK problems, in a large population-based study. Therefore, these results significantly contribute to the literature, as the current knowledge of IMDs is primarily available from single-centre studies and device-specific and national registries, and data from highquality, large-scale epidemiological studies are still needed. (111-113) Our study fills this gap and provides new information for both the clinical and public health sectors. A possible direction for future research could be to expand the survey to include more types of IMDs and a wider age range.

As it has been pointed out in several studies, HRQoL data for people living with IMDs are often incomplete and of low quality. (128, 129) Our study significantly contributes to this field, as we determined the overall life impact of several IMDs, including those with MSK relevance. (168, 169, 171, 206) The results show that the majority of patients with bone fixation experienced a neutral impact on their lives, although, in reality, this is certainly not the case, as it is the plating that heals the bone fracture. In contrast, they generally rated orthopaedic implants more positively, with hip replacement rated the highest, followed by knee replacement and spinal implant. (168, 170, 172) Although the study did not examine the reasons for these differences in HRQoL, several factors could be considered based on observations described in the literature. Previous studies have reported that patient satisfaction with IMDs is associated with a number of factors, such as subjective expectations regarding implantation, surgical factors, postoperative complications, postoperative rehabilitation and implant survivorship. (207-210) However, further studies are needed to determine exactly what factors and to what extent they play a role in shaping subjective outcomes associated with IMDs, including MSK implants.

Our study adds to the body of knowledge on patient awareness, as although patient attitudes towards IMDs have been investigated, IMD-related knowledge has remained largely unexplored so far, especially in the field of MSK implants. (211, 212) The results suggest that respondents generally have a moderate knowledge of their IMDs, as fairly similar scores were observed for all four knowledge VAS scales in the subgroup living with an IMD. (168, 169, 171) We found no differences either by socio-demographic subgroups or by IMD type. However, higher knowledge was observed in respondents who received written instructions for use and read it, indicating that patient information and education are important factors in improving knowledge of IMDs. We find it important to point out that nearly half of the sample indicated not receiving instructions for use. It has been described in the literature that patients undergoing knee or hip replacement surgery often do not receive the adequate information they expected. (211) Our results are in line with these findings, as in the case of knee replacement, only 16% reported receiving instructions for use. However, for hip replacement, a roughly 3-fold increase was observed, indicating that these patients were generally better informed in our study. (168, 170, 172)

Respondents' average level of eHealth literacy and involvement in shared decision making were comparable to that observed in samples of the Hungarian general population. (60, 62) The correlations between the knowledge VAS scales and the eHEALS were only weak, indicating that higher eHealth literacy does not necessarily translate into better knowledge of IMDs. In contrast, shared decision making (as measured with the SDM-Q-9) was moderately correlated with all the knowledge scales. These results show the avenue for public health interventions, i.e. improving eHealth literacy may not result in better health knowledge, but the focus should be on educating the health staff about shared decision making, as greater involvement in the decision about IMD implantation can be an important factor in improving patients' awareness. (168, 171)

It has previously been found that higher device-specific knowledge is associated with improved functional outcomes in patients undergoing knee and hip arthroplasty. (213, 214) These results suggest that patient education may play a key role in improving health outcomes. In our study, we also found that respondents' knowledge differed by the IMD's overall impact on their life, being higher among those indicating positive life impact. (168-170, 172) However, the multiple regression analysis showed that knowledge, eHealth literacy and instructions for use received are not related to the impact of IMD on life, while SDM-Q-9 is significantly associated. (168) These results suggest that shared decision-making is more important in improving IMDs' subjective life impact and that effective communication is essential for knowledge transfer. Furthermore, our findings also highlight that passive communication, such as providing only paper-based or electronic information, is not sufficient to provide patients with adequate health information and to achieve desired health outcomes. However, the active involvement of clinicians in patient education, appropriate and effective communication, and the involvement of patients in therapeutic decisions are essential. Given the high prevalence and the expected increase in more advanced IMDs, the importance of these aspects is likely to increase in the future.

5.3 Social preferences and attitudes towards the use of artificial intelligencebased technologies in hip replacement surgery

In terms of preferences for robot-assisted hip replacement surgery, our study showed slightly different results from what has been found in previous studies. Abdelaal et al.

have described that patients awaiting total knee arthroplasty mainly preferred conventional surgery, with more than 40% of them opting for robot-assisted surgery. (215) Similarly, in the study by Muaddi et al., only one-third of patients favoured the robot-assisted surgery over the conventional method. (216) In contrast, our results suggest a higher acceptance of robot-assisted surgery as more respondents in our study preferred this advanced method of hip replacement. (175, 176) The acceptability of robot-assisted surgery in different countries may depend on several factors, such as differences in economic and cultural environments, as well as differences in healthcare systems, and, therefore, it would deserve further investigation in future studies.

Respondents opting for the robot-assisted surgery had generally higher levels of education and eHealth literacy (eHEALS score), suggesting that knowledge and awareness seem to influence acceptance of advanced digital health technologies. (175, 176) The role of other socio-demographic variables also emerges, such as income, which was higher among those who chose robot-assisted surgery. We also assessed current health status, but no difference between the two subgroups was found. In addition, respondents were asked whether they have had any implants in their lives, as current preferences may be influenced by past health experiences. However, this could only be tested to a limited extent in our study because, on the one hand, we had a population sample, and it is, therefore, likely that only a small proportion of participants had experience with the health condition presented in the hypothetical decision task. On the other hand, the population is less likely to have real experience with robot-assisted surgery, as it is not yet widely available in clinical practice. Accordingly, in our study, there were only 33 participants who had a hip replacement. In my view, future studies could further elucidate how previous experiences affect preferences for digital health technologies.

When analysing respondents' WTP, we found that a third of them offered no money in exchange for their chosen method. (175, 176) Very low or zero WTP may indicate that these respondents are less attached to their choice and, therefore, have weaker preferences for advanced health technologies. However, in a previous study by Abdelaal et al., patients awaiting total knee replacement had even weaker preferences, with less than a tenth of them willing to pay for robot-assisted knee replacement. (215) In light of this, the number of respondents with zero WTP in our study can be considered quite low. It

must be emphasised that affordability (i.e. the individual's financial status) can be a potential source of bias in a WTP task, but I believe that its impact was negligible in this study as respondents were able to offer even very small amounts. (217) Nevertheless, it would be worthwhile in future studies to assess preferences using other elicitation methods and to investigate real decision situations.

Overall, the amount of money offered was very similar in the subgroups choosing the conventional or the robot-assisted surgery, indicating no difference in the strength of preferences. (175, 176) Analysis by socio-demographic characteristics showed that respondents with higher education or income had higher WTP. The correlation analysis further reinforced the positive association between WTP and income, although it was only weak. It should be noted that these results are consistent with previous studies that have found that education level and income affect WTP, presumably because higher income may lead to more spending. (217)

The multiple regression showed different results from the descriptive analysis, as it revealed a significant association between WTP and the choice of surgery, indicating that respondents who chose the robot-assisted surgery had lower WTP. (175, 176) Among the socio-demographic characteristics, only age and income were positively related to WTP. However, other factors described in the literature as common determinants of WTP, such as gender, marital status and education, were not significantly associated. (218) In addition, the results suggest that respondents' eHealth literacy plays less of a role in shaping the preferences for advanced digital health technologies, as the eHEALS score failed to show an association with WTP in the correlation and the regression analysis.

Given the limitations of the WTP method, we suggest refining our results using other preference elicitation methods and, maybe more importantly, in real-world decision making situations. Nonetheless, the openness of the population towards robot-assisted surgery revealed by our research is encouraging and stimulating to robot-oriented developments.

6 CONCLUSIONS

The thesis was organized around five new perspectives of HRQoL assessment in patients with MSK disorders that were investigated in three population studies.

The first study has successfully demonstrated the validity of the Hungarian version of the MSK-HQ, making available a new disease group-specific combined measure in Hungary. The Hungarian MSK-HQ enables general practitioners, MSK and other specialists to assess and monitor the MSK health of patients in general and with diverse MSK diagnoses. The MSK-HQ could also be useful for the public health sector and health policymakers as it allows for the comprehensive assessment of the MSK field, thus providing the opportunity to assess and compare the burden of different MSK diseases and to help plan health interventions targeting MSK patients. In terms of new needs in epidemiology, the study adds significant knowledge to the literature as it was the first to obtain population normative data for the MSK-HQ, which could serve as a reference point in future studies to determine the health status of MSK patients and would open up the possibility for international comparisons. In addition, the results of this study raise awareness of MSK patients providing informal care and provide essential baseline data for health policymakers to develop targeted social interventions and health strategies to support them. Regarding new areas of HRQoL assessment, the study gives an insight into the relationship of MSK health with statistical data collected by the Eurostat and widely used well-being measures; therefore, it could support clinicians and decision-makers to make better use of already available health data.

The second study assessed the prevalence of IMDs in the Hungarian population aged 40 and over, including implants with MSK relevance, providing essential epidemiological data for clinicians and the public health sector. In terms of new areas of HRQoL assessment, the study examined patients' experiences of IMDs and, therefore, provides essential data on their expected real-life effectiveness, which can be used to prepare health coverage decisions. In addition, the study gives an insight into new aspects of patient involvement by examining patients' knowledge, eHealth literacy and involvement in medical decision making. Our findings help clinicians to identify which patient groups have low levels of knowledge and, therefore, need appropriate education and draw attention to the expected subjective health outcomes of IMDs. However, one of the key messages of the research is that good doctor-patient communication and greater patient involvement in healthcare decisions (shared decision making) are essential factors not only in improving knowledge but also in reaching better health outcomes. The SDM-Q-9 is an available measure in Hungary, and it would be advisable to use it more in clinical practice, especially in the field of IMDs. Finally, the results of this study could be beneficial for developers in the design and development phase to identify which devices are more challenging to use and are associated with poorer patient experience and, therefore, need further improvement.

The third study demonstrated an openness in the Hungarian society to new innovative digital health technologies, with high public acceptance of robot-assisted hip replacement surgery, which, however, is not yet broadly reflected in the strength of preferences. Furthermore, the results show no association between public attitudes towards innovative digital health technologies and eHealth literacy as measured by the rather internet-focused eHEALS tool. The results presented in the Thesis suggest that a new measurement tool for assessing eHealth literacy from a new perspective may be needed in the future. These findings may be of great interest to both clinicians making therapeutic decisions and professionals involved in the planning of healthcare, as patient preferences could fundamentally influence therapeutic decisions in the future and would also have an impact on the adherence to, satisfaction with, and implementation of new technologies. In addition, HTA organizations involved in preparing health coverage decisions also benefit from this study, as the results allow patient preferences to be considered alongside health-related factors when determining the benefits associated with new innovative digital health technologies.

7 SUMMARY

The thesis focuses on five new perspectives of health-related quality of life (HRQoL) measurement in patients with musculoskeletal (MSK) disorders. The research questions were addressed in three large cross-sectional population-based studies.

In response to the demand for new HRQoL measurement tools, in the first study, the Hungarian version of the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) was successfully developed and validated, making this combined measure available in Hungary. The study provides new epidemiological data on the MSK health and functional status of the Hungarian population, including the subgroup of MSK patients providing informal care. Another locally and internationally significant result is that the study is the first to report population normative data with the MSK-HQ. In addition, the results provide essential information on the relationship between MSK health and the statistical health data routinely collected by Eurostat and other standard tools, including well-being measures, thus creating the opportunity for clinicians and policymakers to make better use of already available health information, even at the international level.

The second study highlighted that nearly one in three people in the Hungarian population lives with an implantable medical device (IMD), and the proportion of MSK implants is remarkable, thus providing essential epidemiological data for the public health sector. In addition, the study provides information on the impact of IMDs on patients' HRQoL, an area of HRQoL measurement currently under intense international research. However, one of the main messages for all healthcare professionals and policymakers worldwide is that effective doctor-patient communication and patients' involvement in therapeutic decisions are key factors in improving subjective health outcomes, as shared decision making was found to be an important factor in shaping the IMDs' impact on HRQoL.

The third study provided new data on public attitudes and preferences towards advanced digital health technologies. The results show openness in society as the general acceptance of robot-assisted surgery was high. However, the study found no significant difference in the strength of preferences between conventional and robot-assisted methods, which shows the population's uncertainty towards advanced technologies. With the increasing adoption of innovative digital technologies, the results of this study can be used not only locally but also internationally in healthcare planning.

8 **REFERENCES**

- World Health Organization (WHO). Musculoskeletal Health 2022 [updated 14 July 2022; cited 2024 15 January]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/musculoskeletal-conditions</u>.
- Cieza A, Causey K, Kamenov K, Hanson SW, Chatterji S, Vos T. Global estimates of the need for rehabilitation based on the Global Burden of Disease study 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet. 2021;396(10267):2006-2017.
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 (GBD 2019) Results. 2019 [updated 15 October 2020; cited 2024 15 January]. Available from: https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/.
- Fuglkjær S, Dissing KB, Hestbæk L. Prevalence and incidence of musculoskeletal extremity complaints in children and adolescents. A systematic review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1):418.
- 5. Schwend RM. The burden of pediatric musculoskeletal diseases worldwide. Orthopedic Clinics. 2020;51(2):207-217.
- Hungarian Central Statistical Office. Health state, diseases. European health interview survey.
 2019 [updated 2019; cited 2024 15 January]. Available from: https://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/idoszaki/elef/egeszsegi_allapot_2019/index.html.
- Hungarian Central Statistical Office. We can do for our health. European health interview survey.
 2019 [updated 2019; cited 2024 15 January]. Available from: https://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/idoszaki/elef/te_2019/index.html.
- Ensrud KE, Lui LY, Paudel ML, Schousboe JT, Kats AM, Cauley JA, McCulloch CE, Yaffe K, Cawthon PM, Hillier TA, Taylor BC. Effects of Mobility and Cognition on Risk of Mortality in Women in Late Life: A Prospective Study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2016;71(6):759-765.
- Bliuc D, Nguyen ND, Milch VE, Nguyen TV, Eisman JA, Center JR. Mortality risk associated with low-trauma osteoporotic fracture and subsequent fracture in men and women. JAMA. 2009;301(5):513-521.
- van den Hoek J, Boshuizen HC, Roorda LD, Tijhuis GJ, Nurmohamed MT, van den Bos GA, Dekker J. Mortality in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a 15-year prospective cohort study. Rheumatol Int. 2017;37(4):487-493.
- Kluzek S, Sanchez-Santos MT, Leyland KM, Judge A, Spector TD, Hart D, Cooper C, Newton J, Arden NK. Painful knee but not hand osteoarthritis is an independent predictor of mortality over 23 years follow-up of a population-based cohort of middle-aged women. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(10):1749-1756.

- Bevan S. Economic impact of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) on work in Europe. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2015;29(3):356-373.
- Schofield DJ, Shrestha RN, Cunich M, Tanton R, Kelly S, Passey ME, Veerman LJ. Lost productive life years caused by chronic conditions in Australians aged 45–64 years, 2010–2030. Medical J Aust. 2015;203(6):260.e261-266.
- 14. Png ME, Mason KJ, Marshall M, Jordan KP, Bailey J, Frisher M, Heron N, Huntley AL, Mallen CD, Mamas MA, Tatton S, White S, Edwards JJ, Achana F. Estimating the direct healthcare utilization and cost of musculoskeletal pain among people with comorbidity: a retrospective electronic health record study. Curr Med Res Opin. 2023;39(11):1473-1480.
- Smith T, Fletcher J, Lister S. Lived experiences of informal caregivers of people with chronic musculoskeletal pain: a systematic review and meta-ethnography. British Journal of Pain. 2021;15(2):187-198.
- Felce D, Perry J. Quality of life: Its definition and measurement. Res Dev Disabil. 1995;16(1):51 74.
- 17. Karimi M, Brazier J. Health, health-related quality of life, and quality of life: what is the difference? Pharmacoeconomics. 2016;34:645-649.
- 18. Gurková E. Issues in the definitions of HRQoL. J Nurs Soc Stud Pub Health Reh. 2011;3(4):190.
- Epstein RM, Street RL. The values and value of patient-centered care. Annals Family Med; 2011.
 p. 100-103.
- 20. Rathert C, Wyrwich MD, Boren SA. Patient-centered care and outcomes: a systematic review of the literature. Med Care Res Rev. 2013;70(4):351-379.
- 21. Graham S, Brookey J. Do patients understand? Perm J. 2008;12(3):67-69.
- 22. Zanini C, Sarzi-Puttini P, Atzeni F, Di Franco M, Rubinelli S. Doctors' insights into the patient perspective: a qualitative study in the field of chronic pain. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:514230.
- Roux CH, Guillemin F, Boini S, Longuetaud F, Arnault N, Hercberg S, Briançon S. Impact of musculoskeletal disorders on quality of life: an inception cohort study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(4):606-611.
- 24. Tüzün EH. Quality of life in chronic musculoskeletal pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2007;21(3):567-579.
- 25. Megari K. Quality of Life in Chronic Disease Patients. Health Psychol Res. 2013;1(3):e27.
- Coons SJ, Rao S, Keininger DL, Hays RD. A Comparative Review of Generic Quality-of-Life Instruments. Pharmacoeconomics. 2000;17(1):13-35.
- 27. Patrick DL, Deyo RA. Generic and disease-specific measures in assessing health status and quality of life. Med Care. 1989:S217-S232.

- Brazier JE, Harper R, Jones N, O'cathain A, Thomas K, Usherwood T, Westlake L. Validating the SF-36 health survey questionnaire: new outcome measure for primary care. Br Med J. 1992;305(6846):160-164.
- 29. Hunt SM, McKenna S, McEwen J, Williams J, Papp E. The Nottingham Health Profile: subjective health status and medical consultations. Soc Sci Med A. 1981;15(3):221-229.
- 30. Allen J, Inder KJ, Lewin TJ, Attia JR, Kelly BJ. Construct validity of the Assessment of Quality of Life 6D (AQoL-6D) in community samples. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2013;11(1):61.
- 31. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen M, Kind P, Parkin D, Bonsel G, Badia X. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Qual Life Res. 2011;20(10):1727-1736.
- 32. Group TE. EuroQol-a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. Health Policy. 1990;16(3):199-208.
- Finlay AY, Khan GK. Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI)--a simple practical measure for routine clinical use. Clin Exp Dermatol. 1994;19(3):210-216.
- 34. Henchoz Y, Büla C, Guessous I, Goy R, Dupuis M, Santos-Eggimann B. Validity of the older people quality of life-7 domains (OQoL-7) scale. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(1):340.
- 35. Baji P, Brouwer WBF, van Exel J, Golicki D, Prevolnik Rupel V, Zrubka Z, Gulácsi L, Brodszky V, Rencz F, Péntek M. Validation of the Hungarian version of the CarerQol instrument in informal caregivers: results from a cross-sectional survey among the general population in Hungary. Qual Life Res. 2021;30(2):629-641.
- Pequeno NPF, Cabral NLdA, Marchioni DM, Lima SCVC, Lyra CdO. Quality of life assessment instruments for adults: a systematic review of population-based studies. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(1):208.
- Beaudart C, Biver E, Bruyère O, Cooper C, Al-Daghri N, Reginster JY, Rizzoli R. Quality of life assessment in musculo-skeletal health. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2018;30(5):413-418.
- Hurst NP, Kind P, Ruta D, Hunter M, Stubbings A. Measuring health-related quality of life in rheumatoid arthritis: validity, responsiveness and reliability of EuroQol (EQ-5D). Br J Rheumatol. 1997;36(5):551-559.
- 39. Bilbao A, García-Pérez L, Arenaza JC, García I, Ariza-Cardiel G, Trujillo-Martín E, Forjaz MJ, Martín-Fernández J. Psychometric properties of the EQ-5D-5L in patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis: reliability, validity and responsiveness. Qual Life Res. 2018;27(11):2897-2908.
- Garratt AM, Furunes H, Hellum C, Solberg T, Brox JI, Storheim K, Johnsen LG. Evaluation of the EQ-5D-3L and 5L versions in low back pain patients. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2021;19(1):155.

- 41. Soer R, Reneman MF, Speijer BL, Coppes MH, Vroomen PC. Clinimetric properties of the EuroQol-5D in patients with chronic low back pain. Spine J. 2012;12(11):1035-1039.
- Hey HWD, Lim JXY, Ong JZ, Luo N. Epidemiology of Neck Pain and Its Impact on Quality-of-Life-A Population-Based, Cross Sectional Study in Singapore. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2021;46(22):1572-1580.
- Tijhuis GJ, de Jong Z, Zwinderman AH, Zuijderduin WM, Jansen LM, Hazes JM, Vliet Vlieland TP. The validity of the Rheumatoid Arthritis Quality of Life (RAQoL) questionnaire. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2001;40(10):1112-1119.
- Rat AC, Coste J, Pouchot J, Baumann M, Spitz E, Retel-Rude N, Le Quintrec JS, Dumont-Fischer D, Guillemin F. OAKHQOL: a new instrument to measure quality of life in knee and hip osteoarthritis. J Clin Epidemiol. 2005;58(1):47-55.
- 45. McKenna SP, Doward LC, Whalley D, Tennant A, Emery P, Veale DJ. Development of the PsAQoL: a quality of life instrument specific to psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2004;63(2):162-169.
- 46. Madureira MM, Ciconelli RM, Pereira RM. Quality of life measurements in patients with osteoporosis and fractures. Clinics (Sao Paulo). 2012;67(11):1315-1320.
- 47. Agnus Tom A, Rajkumar E, John R, Joshua George A. Determinants of quality of life in individuals with chronic low back pain: a systematic review. Health Psychol Behav Med. 2022;10(1):124-144.
- 48. Ramirez MM, Shepherd MH, Melnick SJ, Hanebuth C, Bazemore C, Couce L, Hendren S, Horn ME. Patient-reported outcome measures in physical therapy practice for neck pain: an overview of reviews. J Patient Rep Outcomes. 2023;7(1):97.
- 49. Cox B, van Oyen H, Cambois E, Jagger C, le Roy S, Robine JM, Romieu I. The reliability of the Minimum European Health Module. Int J Public Health. 2009;54(2):55-60.
- 50. Rencz F, Brodszky V, Gulácsi L, Golicki D, Ruzsa G, Pickard AS, Law EH, Péntek M. Parallel Valuation of the EQ-5D-3L and EQ-5D-5L by Time Trade-Off in Hungary. Value Health. 2020;23(9):1235-1245.
- 51. Fries JF, Spitz P, Kraines RG, Holman HR. Measurement of patient outcome in arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1980;23(2):137-145.
- 52. Hill JC, Kang S, Benedetto E, Myers H, Blackburn S, Smith S, Dunn KM, Hay E, Rees J, Beard D, Glyn-Jones S, Barker K, Ellis B, Fitzpatrick R, Price A. Development and initial cohort validation of the Arthritis Research UK Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) for use across musculoskeletal care pathways. BMJ Open. 2016;6(8):e012331.

- 53. Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Baji P, Zrubka Z, Farkas M, Dobos Á, Gulácsi L, Kovács L, Péntek M. Validation of the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire in a general population sample: a cross-sectional online survey in Hungary. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2022;23(1):771.
- 54. Hölgyesi Á, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Poór G, Kovács L, Baji P, Péntek M. Új eszköz a mozgásszervi problémákkal élők egészségének értékelésére: a Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire. Magyar Reumatol. 2023;64:22-32.
- 55. Topp C, Østergaard S, Søndergaard S, Bech P. The WHO-5 Well-Being Index: A systematic review of the literature. Psychother Psychosom. 2015;84:167-176.
- 56. Al-Janabi H, Flynn TN, Coast J. Development of a self-report measure of capability wellbeing for adults: the ICECAP-A. Qual Life Res. 2012;21(1):167-176.
- 57. Coast J, Flynn TN, Natarajan L, Sproston K, Lewis J, Louviere JJ, Peters TJ. Valuing the ICECAP capability index for older people. Soc Sci Med. 2008;67(5):874-882.
- 58. Flynn TN, Huynh E, Peters TJ, Al-Janabi H, Clemens S, Moody A, Coast J. Scoring the Icecapa Capability Instrument. Estimation of a UK General Population Tariff. Health Econ. 2015;24(3):258-269.
- 59. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHEALS: The eHealth Literacy Scale. J Med Internet Res. 2006;8(4):e27.
- 60. Zrubka Z, Hajdu O, Rencz F, Baji P, Gulácsi L, Péntek M. Psychometric properties of the Hungarian version of the eHealth Literacy Scale. Eur J Health Econ. 2019;20(Suppl 1):57-69.
- Kriston L, Scholl I, Hölzel L, Simon D, Loh A, Härter M. The 9-item Shared Decision Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9). Development and psychometric properties in a primary care sample. Patient Educ Couns. 2010;80(1):94-99.
- Rencz F, Tamási B, Brodszky V, Gulácsi L, Weszl M, Péntek M. Validity and reliability of the 9-item Shared Decision Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9) in a national survey in Hungary. Eur J Health Econ. 2019;20(Suppl 1):43-55.
- 63. Marquis P, Caron M, Emery M-P, Scott JA, Arnould B, Acquadro C. The role of health-related quality of life data in the drug approval processes in the US and Europe: a review of guidance documents and authorizations of medicinal products from 2006 to 2010. Pharmaceut Med. 2011;25:147-160.
- 64. Guyatt GH, Ferrans CE, Halyard MY, Revicki DA, Symonds TL, Varricchio CG, Kotzeva A, Valderas JM, Alonso JL, Group CSCM. Exploration of the value of health-related quality-of-life information from clinical research and into clinical practice. Mayo Clin Proc. 2007;82(10):1229-1239.
- Symonds T, Berzon R, Marquis P, Rummans TA. The Clinical Significance of Quality-of-Life Results: Practical Considerations for Specific Audiences. Mayo Clin Proc. 2002;77(6):572-583.

- 66. Longworth L, Yang Y, Young T, Mulhern B, Hernández Alava M, Mukuria C, Rowen D, Tosh J, Tsuchiya A, Evans P. Use of generic and condition-specific measures of health-related quality of life in NICE decision-making: a systematic review, statistical modelling and survey. Health Technol Assess. 2014;18(9):1-224.
- 67. Niessen LW, Grijseels EWM, Rutten FFH. The evidence-based approach in health policy and health care delivery. Soc Sci Med. 2000;51(6):859-869.
- 68. Ahmed S, Berzon RA, Revicki DA, Lenderking WR, Moinpour CM, Basch E, Reeve BB, Wu AW, Research ISfQoL. The use of patient-reported outcomes (PRO) within comparative effectiveness research: implications for clinical practice and health care policy. Med Care. 2012;50(12):1060-1070.
- Chang S, Gholizadeh L, Salamonson Y, DiGiacomo M, Betihavas V, Davidson PM. Health span or life span: The role of patient-reported outcomes in informing health policy. Health Policy. 2011;100(1):96-104.
- Calvert M, Blazeby J, Altman DG, Revicki DA, Moher D, Brundage MD, CONSORT PRO Group ft. Reporting of Patient-Reported Outcomes in Randomized Trials: The CONSORT PRO Extension. JAMA. 2013;309(8):814-822.
- European Medicines Agency. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Guideline on clinical investigation of medicinal products used in the treatment of osteoarthritis, CPMP/EWP/784/97 Rev. 1 (2010).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Guidance for Industry: Patient-Reported Outcome Measures: Use in Medical Product Development to Support Labeling Claims., FDA-2006-D-0362 (2009).
- 73. European Medicines Agency. Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP). Points to consider on clinical investigation of medicinal products other than NSAIDs for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis., CPMP/EWP/784/97 rev. 1. (2003).
- 74. Teixeira MM, Borges FC, Ferreira PS, Rocha J, Sepodes B, Torre C. A review of patient-reported outcomes used for regulatory approval of oncology medicinal products in the European Union between 2017 and 2020. Frontiers in Medicine. 2022;9:968272.
- 75. Fiteni F, Pam A, Anota A, Vernerey D, Paget-Bailly S, Westeel V, Bonnetain F. Health-related quality-of-life as co-primary endpoint in randomized clinical trials in oncology. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2015;15(8):885-891.
- Basra MKA, Hussain S. Application of the dermatology life quality index in clinical trials of biologics for psoriasis. Chin J Integr Med. 2012;18(3):179-185.
- 77. Orbai AM, Bingham CO, 3rd. Patient reported outcomes in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2015;17(4):28.

- 78. Fautrel B, Alten R, Kirkham B, de la Torre I, Durand F, Barry J, Holzkaemper T, Fakhouri W, Taylor PC. Call for action: how to improve use of patient-reported outcomes to guide clinical decision making in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Int. 2018;38(6):935-947.
- 79. de Wit MP, Berlo SE, Aanerud GJ, Aletaha D, Bijlsma JW, Croucher L, Da Silva JA, Glüsing B, Gossec L, Hewlett S, Jongkees M, Magnusson D, Scholte-Voshaar M, Richards P, Ziegler C, Abma TA. European League Against Rheumatism recommendations for the inclusion of patient representatives in scientific projects. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(5):722-726.
- 80. Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges SL, Jr., Akl EA, Bannuru RR, Sullivan MC, Vaysbrot E, McNaughton C, Osani M, Shmerling RH, Curtis JR, Furst DE, Parks D, Kavanaugh A, O'Dell J, King C, Leong A, Matteson EL, Schousboe JT, Drevlow B, Ginsberg S, Grober J, St Clair EW, Tindall E, Miller AS, McAlindon T. 2015 American College of Rheumatology Guideline for the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016;68(1):1-26.
- 81. Smolen JS, Landewé R, Breedveld FC, Buch M, Burmester G, Dougados M, Emery P, Gaujoux-Viala C, Gossec L, Nam J. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2013 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(3):492-509.
- 82. Smolen JS, Landewé RBM, Bergstra SA, Kerschbaumer A, Sepriano A, Aletaha D, Caporali R, Edwards CJ, Hyrich KL, Pope JE, Souza Sd, Stamm TA, Takeuchi T, Verschueren P, Winthrop KL, Balsa A, Bathon JM, Buch MH, Burmester GR, Buttgereit F, Cardiel MH, Chatzidionysiou K, Codreanu C, Cutolo M, Broeder AAd, Aoufy KE, Finckh A, Fonseca JE, Gottenberg J-E, Haavardsholm EA, Iagnocco A, Lauper K, Li Z, McInnes IB, Mysler EF, Nash P, Poor G, Ristic GG, Rivellese F, Rubbert-Roth A, Schulze-Koops H, Stoilov N, Strangfeld A, Mil AvdH-v, Duuren Ev, Vlieland TPMV, Westhovens R, Heijde Dvd. EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2022 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2023;82(1):3-18.
- 83. Torrance GW, Feeny D. Utilities and quality-adjusted life years. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 1989;5(4):559-575.
- Räsänen P, Roine E, Sintonen H, Semberg-Konttinen V, Ryynänen O-P, Roine R. Use of qualityadjusted life years for the estimation of effectiveness of health care: a systematic literature review. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 2006;22(2):235-241.
- 85. Mehrez A, Gafni A. Quality-adjusted life years, utility theory, and healthy-years equivalents. Med Decis Making. 1989;9(2):142-149.
- EUnetHTA. Methods for health economic evaluations-A guideline based on current practices in Europe: EUnetHTA; 2015 [updated May, 2015; cited 2024 January 15]. Available from:

https://www.eunethta.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Methods-for-health-economicevaluations-A-guideline-based-on-current-practices-in-Europe_Guideline_Final-May-2015.pdf.

- 87. Neyt M, García-Pérez L, Johansson P, Midy F, Teljeur C. Practical considerations when critically assessing economic evaluations. Guidance document. <u>https://www.eunethta.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/EUnetHTA-JA3WP6B2-5-Guidance-Critical-Assessment-EE_v1-0.pdf</u>: European Network for Health Technology Assessment (EUnetHTA); 2020.
- 88. Ministry of Human Capacities: Guideline for Economic Evaluations in Healthcare. [Az Emberi Erőforrások Minisztériuma egészségügyi szakmai irányelve az egészség-gazdaságtani elemzések készítéséhez és értékeléséhez.], Egészségügyi Közlöny LXXI. évfolyam 21. szám, 2178-2200 (2021).
- 89. D'Agostino MA, Beaton DE, Maxwell LJ, Cembalo SM, Hoens AM, Hofstetter C, Zabalan C, Bird P, Christensen R, de Wit M, Doria AS, Maksymowych WP, Oo WM, Østergaard M, Serban T, Sloan VS, Terslev L, van Rossum MA, Conaghan PG, Boers M. Improving domain definition and outcome instrument selection: Lessons learned for OMERACT from imaging. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2021;51(5):1125-1133.
- 90. Péntek M. Az egészségnyereség mérése és értékelése krónikus betegségekben. MTA doktori értekezés. <u>https://real-d.mtak.hu/1331/2021</u>.
- 91. Tian-hui C, Lu L, Michael M K. A systematic review: How to choose appropriate health-related quality of life (HRQOL) measures in routine general practice? J Zhejiang Univ Sci B. 2005;6(9):936-940.
- 92. Alison JC, Irene JH. Are quality of life measures patient centred? BMJ. 2001;322(7298):1357-1360.
- Jolles BM, Buchbinder R, Beaton DE. A study compared nine patient-specific indices for musculoskeletal disorders. J Clin Epidemiol. 2005;58(8):791-801.
- 94. Christiansen DH, McCray G, Winding TN, Andersen JH, Nielsen KJ, Karstens S, Hill JC. Measurement properties of the musculoskeletal health questionnaire (MSK-HQ): a between country comparison. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020;18(1):200.
- 95. Stynes S, Jordan KP, Hill JC, Wynne-Jones G, Cottrell E, Foster NE, Goodwin R, Bishop A. Evaluation of the First Contact Physiotherapy (FCP) model of primary care: patient characteristics and outcomes. Physiotherapy. 2021;113:199-208.
- 96. Norton S, Ellis B, Santana Suárez B, Schwank S, Fitzpatrick R, Price A, Galloway J. Validation of the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire in inflammatory arthritis: a psychometric evaluation. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2019;58(1):45-51.
- 97. Burgess R, Lewis M, Hill JC. Benchmarking community/primary care musculoskeletal services: A narrative review and recommendation. Musculoskeletal Care. 2023;21(1):148-158.

- 98. Hill JC, Thomas E, Hill S, Foster NE, van der Windt DA. Development and Validation of the Keele Musculoskeletal Patient Reported Outcome Measure (MSK-PROM). PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0124557.
- 99. Chen TH, Li L, Kochen MM. A systematic review: how to choose appropriate health-related quality of life (HRQOL) measures in routine general practice? J Zhejiang Univ Sci B. 2005;6(9):936-940.
- Kaplan RM, Hays RD. Health-Related Quality of Life Measurement in Public Health. Annu Rev Public Health. 2022;43:355-373.
- 101. Mesbah M. Measurement and Analysis of Quality of Life in Epidemiology. In: Chakraborty R, Rao CR, Sen P, editors. Handbook of Statistics. 28: Elsevier; 2012. p. 369-400.
- 102. O'Connor PJ. Normative data: their definition, interpretation, and importance for primary care physicians. Fam Med. 1990;22(4):307-311.
- 103. Ware J, Keller S. Interpreting general health measures. In: Spilker B, editor. Quality of life and pharmacoeconomics in clinical trials. 2: Lippincott-Raven; 1996. p. 445-460.
- 104. In: Szende A, Janssen B, Cabases J, editors. Self-Reported Population Health: An International Perspective based on EQ-5D [Internet]. Dordrecht (NL): Springer; 2014.
- Rencz F, Gulácsi L, Drummond M, Golicki D, Prevolnik Rupel V, Simon J, Stolk EA, Brodszky V, Baji P, Závada J, Petrova G, Rotar A, Péntek M. EQ-5D in Central and Eastern Europe: 2000-2015. Qual Life Res. 2016;25(11):2693-2710.
- 106. Goodhead A, McDonald J. Informal caregivers literature review. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=f0445bdc28366138235b747 882c75abb68110bb6; 2007.
- 107. Bom J, Bakx P, Schut F, van Doorslaer E. The Impact of Informal Caregiving for Older Adults on the Health of Various Types of Caregivers: A Systematic Review. The Gerontologist. 2018;59(5):e629-e642.
- 108. Darragh AR, Sommerich CM, Lavender SA, Tanner KJ, Vogel K, Campo M. Musculoskeletal Discomfort, Physical Demand, and Caregiving Activities in Informal Caregivers. J Appl Gerontol. 2015;34(6):734-760.
- 109. Sambasivam R, Liu J, Vaingankar JA, Ong HL, Tan ME, Fauziana R, Picco L, Chong SA, Subramaniam M. The hidden patient: chronic physical morbidity, psychological distress, and quality of life in caregivers of older adults. Psychogeriatrics. 2019;19(1):65-72.
- 110. Ming J, He Y, Yang Y, Hu M, Zhao X, Liu J, Xie Y, Wei Y, Chen Y. Health technology assessment of medical devices: current landscape, challenges, and a way forward. Cost Eff Resour Alloc. 2022;20(1):54.

- 111. Malchau H, Garellick G, Berry D, Harris WH, Robertson O, Kärrlholm J, Lewallen D, Bragdon CR, Lidgren L, Herberts P. Arthroplasty implant registries over the past five decades: development, current, and future impact. J Orthop Res. 2018;36(9):2319-2330.
- Kuder M, Gelman A, Zenilman JM. Prevalence of Implanted Medical Devices in Medicine Inpatients. J Patient Saf. 2018;14(3):153-156.
- Niederländer C, Wahlster P, Kriza C, Kolominsky-Rabas P. Registries of implantable medical devices in Europe. Health Policy. 2013;113(1):20-37.
- Raghupathi W, Raghupathi V. Big data analytics in healthcare: promise and potential. Health Inf Sci Syst. 2014;2:3.
- 115. Eurostat: European Health Interview Survey (EHIS). [cited 2024 15 January]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/microdata/european-health-interview-survey.
- 116. Szigeti S, Gaál P, Gyenes P, Farkas-Borbás F, Mihalicza P, Gresz M, Kiefer P, Vitrai J, Fadgyas-Freyler P, Horváth J, Babarczy B. Health System Performance Assessment, Hungary: a step forward toward evidence-informed health policy: Balázs Babarczy. Eur J Public Health. 2017;27(suppl_3).
- 117. Fernandes ÓB, Hölgyesi Á, Péntek M. Patient-centred care in Hungary: Contributions to foster a policy agenda. Z Evid Fortbild Qual Gesundhwes. 2022;171:58-61.
- 118. Baji P, Farkas M, Dobos Á, Zrubka Z, Gulácsi L, Brodszky V, Rencz F, Péntek M. Capability of well-being: validation of the Hungarian version of the ICECAP-A and ICECAP-O questionnaires and population normative data. Qual Life Res. 2020;29(10):2863-2874.
- 119. Huynh E, Coast J, Rose J, Kinghorn P, Flynn T. Values for the ICECAP-Supportive Care Measure (ICECAP-SCM) for use in economic evaluation at end of life. Soc Sci Med. 2017;189:114-128.
- 120. Husbands S, Mitchell P, Floredin I, Peters T, Kinghorn P, Byford S, Anand P, Bailey C, Coast J. The Children and Young People Quality of Life Study: A protocol for the qualitative development of attributes for capability wellbeing measures for use in health economic evaluation with children and young people. Wellcome Open Research. 2022;7:117.
- 121. Brazier J, Peasgood T, Mukuria C, Marten O, Kreimeier S, Luo N, Mulhern B, Pickard AS, Augustovski F, Greiner W, Engel L, Belizan M, Yang Z, Monteiro A, Kuharic M, Gibbons L, Ludwig K, Carlton J, Connell J, Rand S, Devlin N, Jones K, Tsuchiya A, Lovett R, Naidoo B, Rowen D, Rejon-Parrilla JC. The EQ-HWB: Overview of the Development of a Measure of Health and Wellbeing and Key Results. Value Health. 2022;25(4):482-491.
- 122. Proud L, McLoughlin C, Kinghorn P. ICECAP-O, the current state of play: a systematic review of studies reporting the psychometric properties and use of the instrument over the decade since its publication. Qual Life Res. 2019;28(6):1429-1439.

- 123. Afentou N, Kinghorn P. A systematic review of the feasibility and psychometric properties of the ICEpop CAPability measure for adults and its use so far in economic evaluation. Value Health. 2020;23(4):515-526.
- 124. Péntek M, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Brodszky V, Rencz F, Dobos Á, Farkas M, Kovács L, Baji P. Musculoskeletal health and capability wellbeing: Associations between the HAQ-DI, ICECAP-A and ICECAP-O measures in a population survey. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2021;55:102420.
- 125. Mattison G, Canfell O, Forrester D, Dobbins C, Smith D, Töyräs J, Sullivan C. The Influence of Wearables on Health Care Outcomes in Chronic Disease: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res. 2022;24(7):e36690.
- 126. Huff K, Lockl J, Schick D, Stoetzer J-C. A model to assess the impact of digital technologies on the health-related quality of life. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 2022;38(1):e81.
- 127. Singh J, Sloan JA, Johanson NA. Challenges with health-related quality of life assessment in arthroplasty patients: problems and solutions. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2010;18(2):72-82.
- Tarricone R, Torbica A, Drummond M. Challenges in the Assessment of Medical Devices: The MedtecHTA Project. Health Econ. 2017;26(S1):5-12.
- 129. Lübbeke A, Combescure C, Barea C, Gonzalez AI, Tucker K, Kjærsgaard-Andersen P, Melvin T, Fraser AG, Nelissen R, Smith JA. Clinical investigations to evaluate high-risk orthopaedic devices: a systematic review of the peer-reviewed medical literature. EFORT Open Rev. 2023;8(11):781-791.
- Hogervorst MA, Vreman RA, Mantel-Teeuwisse AK, Goettsch WG. Reported Challenges in Health Technology Assessment of Complex Health Technologies. Value Health. 2022;25(6):992-1001.
- 131. Drummond M, Tarricone R, Torbica A. Incentivizing research into the effectiveness of medical devices. Eur J Health Econ. 2016;17(9):1055-1058.
- 132. Rothery C, Claxton K, Palmer S, Epstein D, Tarricone R, Sculpher M. Characterising Uncertainty in the Assessment of Medical Devices and Determining Future Research Needs. Health Econ. 2017;26 Suppl 1:109-123.
- 133. Crispi F, Naci H, Barkauskaite E, Osipenko L, Mossialos E. Assessment of Devices, Diagnostics and Digital Technologies: A Review of NICE Medical Technologies Guidance. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2019;17(2):189-211.
- 134. Schnell-Inderst P, Mayer J, Lauterberg J, Hunger T, Arvandi M, Conrads-Frank A, Nachtnebel A, Wild C, Siebert U. Health technology assessment of medical devices: what is different? An overview of three European projects. Z Evid Fortbild Qual Gesundhwes. 2015;109(4-5):309-318.
- 135. Fuchs S, Olberg B, Panteli D, Perleth M, Busse R. HTA of medical devices: Challenges and ideas for the future from a European perspective. Health Policy. 2017;121(3):215-229.
- 136. Gossec L, Baraliakos X, Kerschbaumer A, de Wit M, McInnes I, Dougados M, Primdahl J, McGonagle DG, Aletaha D, Balanescu A, Balint PV, Bertheussen H, Boehncke WH, Burmester GR, Canete JD, Damjanov NS, Kragstrup TW, Kvien TK, Landewé RBM, Lories RJU, Marzo-Ortega H, Poddubnyy D, Rodrigues Manica SA, Schett G, Veale DJ, Van den Bosch FE, van der Heijde D, Smolen JS. EULAR recommendations for the management of psoriatic arthritis with pharmacological therapies: 2019 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020;79(6):700-712.
- 137. Ramiro S, Nikiphorou E, Sepriano A, Ortolan A, Webers C, Baraliakos X, Landewé RBM, Van den Bosch FE, Boteva B, Bremander A, Carron P, Ciurea A, van Gaalen FA, Géher P, Gensler L, Hermann J, de Hooge M, Husakova M, Kiltz U, López-Medina C, Machado PM, Marzo-Ortega H, Molto A, Navarro-Compán V, Nissen MJ, Pimentel-Santos FM, Poddubnyy D, Proft F, Rudwaleit M, Telkman M, Zhao SS, Ziade N, van der Heijde D. ASAS-EULAR recommendations for the management of axial spondyloarthritis: 2022 update. Ann Rheum Dis. 2023;82(1):19-34.
- Staveley I, Sullivan P. We need more guidance on shared decision making. Br J Gen Pract. 2015;65(641):663-664.
- 139. Waddell A, Lennox A, Spassova G, Bragge P. Barriers and facilitators to shared decision-making in hospitals from policy to practice: a systematic review. Implement Sci. 2021;16(1):74.
- 140. Scholl I, Loon MK-v, Sepucha K, Elwyn G, Légaré F, Härter M, Dirmaier J. Measurement of shared decision making – a review of instruments. Z Evid Fortbild Qual Gesundhwes. 2011;105(4):313-324.
- 141. Zrubka Z, Brito Fernandes Ó, Baji P, Hajdu O, Kovacs L, Kringos D, Klazinga N, Gulácsi L, Brodszky V, Rencz F, Péntek M. Exploring eHealth Literacy and Patient-Reported Experiences With Outpatient Care in the Hungarian General Adult Population: Cross-Sectional Study. J Med Internet Res. 2020;22(8):e19013.
- 142. Xie L, Zhang S, Xin M, Zhu M, Lu W, Mo PK-H. Electronic health literacy and health-related outcomes among older adults: A systematic review. Prev Med. 2022;157:106997.
- 143. Purcell DJ, Cavanaugh G, Thomas-Purcell KB, Caballero J, Waldrop D, Ayala V, Davenport R, Ownby RL. e-Health Literacy Scale, Patient Attitudes, Medication Adherence, and Internal Locus of Control. Health Lit Res Pract. 2023;7(2):e80-e88.
- 144. Hickman RL, Clochesy JM, Alaamri M. Effects of an eHealth Intervention on Patient-Provider Interaction and Functional Health Literacy in Adults With Hypertension. SAGE Open Nurs. 2021;7:23779608211005863.

- 145. Langford AT, Roberts T, Gupta J, Orellana KT, Loeb S. Impact of the Internet on Patient-Physician Communication. Eur Urol Focus. 2020;6(3):440-444.
- Jacofsky DJ, Allen M. Robotics in Arthroplasty: A Comprehensive Review. J Arthroplasty. 2016;31(10):2353-2363.
- 147. Kumar V, Patel S, Baburaj V, Rajnish RK, Aggarwal S. Does robotic-assisted surgery improve outcomes of total hip arthroplasty compared to manual technique? A systematic review and metaanalysis. Postgrad Med J. 2021;99(1171):375-383.
- 148. Sun WX, Huang WQ, Li HY, Wang HS, Guo SL, Dong J, Chen BL, Lin YP. Clinical efficacy of robotic spine surgery: an updated systematic review of 20 randomized controlled trials. EFORT Open Rev. 2023;8(11):841-853.
- 149. Liu P, Lu FF, Liu GJ, Mu XH, Sun YQ, Zhang QD, Wang WG, Guo WS. Robotic-assisted unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: a review. Arthroplasty. 2021;3(1):15.
- Payedimarri AB, Ratti M, Rescinito R, Vanhaecht K, Panella M. Effectiveness of Platform-Based Robot-Assisted Rehabilitation for Musculoskeletal or Neurologic Injuries: A Systematic Review. Bioengineering (Basel). 2022;9(4):129.
- 151. Fazekas G, Tavaszi I. The future role of robots in neuro-rehabilitation. Expert Rev Neurother. 2019;19(6):471-473.
- 152. Péter O, Fazekas G, Zsiga K, Dénes Z. Robot-mediated upper limb physiotherapy: review and recommendations for future clinical trials. Int J Rehabil Res. 2011;34(3):196-202.
- 153. Mickley JP, Grove AF, Rouzrokh P, Yang L, Larson AN, Sanchez-Sotello J, Maradit Kremers H, Wyles CC. A Stepwise Approach to Analyzing Musculoskeletal Imaging Data With Artificial Intelligence. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2023.
- 154. Dinescu SC, Stoica D, Bita CE, Nicoara AI, Cirstei M, Staiculesc MA, Vreju F. Applications of artificial intelligence in musculoskeletal ultrasound: narrative review. Front Med (Lausanne). 2023;10:1286085.
- 155. Zsiga K, Tóth A, Pilissy T, Péter O, Dénes Z, Fazekas G. Evaluation of a companion robot based on field tests with single older adults in their homes. Assist Technol. 2018;30(5):259-266.
- 156. Papadopoulos I, Wright S, Koulouglioti C, Ali S, Lazzarino R, Martín-García Á, Oter-Quintana C, Kouta C, Rousou E, Papp K, Krepinska R, Tothova V, Malliarou M, Apostolara P, Lesińska-Sawicka M, Nagorska M, Liskova M, Nortvedt L, Alpers LM, Biglete-Pangilinan S, Oconer-Rubiano MF, Chaisetsampun W, Wichit N, Ghassemi AE, Jafarjalal E, Zorba A, Kuckert-Wöstheinrich A, Malla R, Toda T, Akman Ö, Öztürk C, Puvimanasinghe T, Ziaian T, Eldar-Regev O, Nissim S. Socially assistive robots in health and social care: Acceptance and cultural factors. Results from an exploratory international online survey. Jpn J Nurs Sci. 2023;20(2):e12523.

- 157. Brennan PF, Strombom I. Improving health care by understanding patient preferences: the role of computer technology. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 1998;5(3):257-262.
- 158. Say RE, Thomson R. The importance of patient preferences in treatment decisions--challenges for doctors. BMJ. 2003;327(7414):542-545.
- 159. Umar N, Litaker D, Schaarschmidt M-L, Peitsch WK, Schmieder A, Terris DD. Outcomes associated with matching patients' treatment preferences to physicians' recommendations: study methodology. BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12(1):1.
- 160. Lambert SI, Madi M, Sopka S, Lenes A, Stange H, Buszello C-P, Stephan A. An integrative review on the acceptance of artificial intelligence among healthcare professionals in hospitals. NPJ Digit Med. 2023;6(1):111.
- Safi S, Thiessen T, Schmailzl KJ. Acceptance and Resistance of New Digital Technologies in Medicine: Qualitative Study. JMIR Res Protoc. 2018;7(12):e11072.
- AlQudah AA, Al-Emran M, Shaalan K. Technology Acceptance in Healthcare: A Systematic Review. Applied Sciences. 2021;11(22):10537.
- 163. Stoumpos AI, Kitsios F, Talias MA. Digital Transformation in Healthcare: Technology Acceptance and Its Applications. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023;20(4):3407.
- 164. Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. POSB203 Accessibility to Healthcare Services and Interventions Among Patients with Musculoskeletal Health Problems: Results from an Online Cross-Sectional Survey. Value Health. 2022;25(1):S134.
- 165. Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Egészségügyi szolgáltatásokhoz történő hozzáférés vizsgálata mozgásszervi betegséggel rendelkező betegek körében. Magyar Reumatol. 2021;62(3):147.
- 166. Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. POSB204 The Burden of Informal Care in Patients with Musculoskeletal Health Problems: Results from a Cross-Sectional Population Survey. Value Health. 2022;25(1):S134.
- 167. Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Informális gondozás és mozgásszervi egészség: keresztmetszeti kérdőíves lakossági felmérés. Magyar Reumatol. 2021;62(3):172-173.
- 168. Hölgyesi Å, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Epidemiology and patients' self-reported knowledge of implantable medical devices: Results of a cross-sectional survey in Hungary. PLoS One. 2023;18(4):e0284577.
- 169. Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. MT31 Epidemiology and Patients' Knowledge of Implantable Medical Device Management and Safe Use: Results of a CROSS-Sectional Survey Among the General Population in Hungary. Value Health. 2022;25(7):S538.

- 170. Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. MT21 Living With Orthopaedic Implants: Results of an Online Cross-Sectional Study in Hungary. Value Health. 2022;25(12):S381-S382.
- 171. Hölgyesi Á. Tudja, mi lakik Önben? Beültethető orvosi eszközök epidemiológiája és a páciensek tájékozottsága. Innovatív és digitális egészségipari technológiák fejlesztése és értékelése; 2023.11.17.; Óbudai Egyetem.
- 172. Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Ortopédiai és csonttörés miatti implantátumok epidemiológiája és a betegek tájékozottsága: magyarországi keresztmetszeti lakossági felmérés eredményei. Magyar Reumatol. 2022;63(3):167.
- 173. Péntek M, Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Czere J, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z. MT26 Citizens' Thoughts about Implantable Medical Devices: Results of a Cross-Sectional Survey Among the General Population in Hungary. Value Health. 2022;25(7):S537.
- 174. Péntek M, Kozlovszky M, Weszl M, Kuti J, Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Czere J, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z. MT7 Patients' Experiences with Shared Decision Making about Implantable Medical Device Surgery: Results of a Cross-Sectional Survey in Hungary. Value Health. 2022;25(7):S533.
- 175. Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. PCR258 Citizens' Preferences for Robot-Assisted Hip Replacement: Results of an Online Cross-Sectional Study in Hungary. Value Health. 2022;25(12):S440.
- 176. Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Robotsebészet alkalmazással kapcsolatos preferenciák csípőprotézisbeültetés esetén: keresztmetszeti kérdőíves felmérés a magyarországi lakosság körében. Magyar Reumatol. 2022;63(3):168.
- 177. Hölgyesi Á, Zrubka Z, Gulácsi L, Baji P, Haidegger T, Kozlovszky M, Weszl M, Kovács L, Péntek M. Robot-assisted surgery and artificial intelligence-based tumour diagnostics: social preferences with a representative cross-sectional survey. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2024;Accepted for publication.
- 178. Oxford University Innovation. Health Outcomes Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) [cited 2024. 20 February]. Available from: <u>https://innovation.ox.ac.uk/outcome-measures/musculoskeletal-health-questionnaire-msk-hq/.</u>
- Versteegh M, Knies S, Brouwer W. From Good to Better: New Dutch Guidelines for Economic Evaluations in Healthcare. Pharmacoeconomics. 2016;34(11):1071-1074.

- 180. Prinsen CAC, Mokkink LB, Bouter LM, Alonso J, Patrick DL, de Vet HCW, Terwee CB. COSMIN guideline for systematic reviews of patient-reported outcome measures. Qual Life Res. 2018;27(5):1147-1157.
- 181. Cohen J. Set Correlation and Contingency Tables. Appl Psychol Meas. 1988;12(4):425-434.
- 182. Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistics notes: Cronbach's alpha. BMJ. 1997;314(7080):572.
- Koo TK, Li MY. A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. J Chiropr Med. 2016;15(2):155-163.
- Cohen J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. 2nd Edition ed. New York: Academic press; 1988. 567 p.
- 185. Oxford University Innovation. MSK-HQ Available Languages [cited 2024. 20 February]. Available from: <u>https://innovation.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/MSK-HQ language-list_February-2023.pdf</u>.
- 186. Gibbons E, Fitzpatrick R. An alternative approach to implementing patient-reported outcome measures. Pilot Feasibility Stud. 2018;4(1):96.
- 187. Galeoto G, Piepoli V, Ciccone E, Mollica R, Federici C, Magnifica F, Servadio A. Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire: Translation, cultural adaptation and validation of the Italian version (MSK-HQ-I). Muscles Ligaments Tendons J. 2019;9(2):295-303.
- 188. Karstens S, Christiansen DH, Brinkmann M, Hahm M, Mc CG, Hill JC, Joos S. German translation, cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire: a cohort study. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2020;56(6):771-779.
- 189. Tingulstad A, Van Tulder MW, Rysstad T, Tveter AT, Hill JC, Grotle M. Validity and reliability of the Norwegian version of the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire in people on sick leave. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2021;19(1):191.
- Akkubak Y, AnaforoĞlu KÜlÜnkoĞlu B. Reliability and validity of the Turkish Version of Arthritis Research UK Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire. Arch Rheumatol. 2020;35(2):155-162.
- 191. Algarni FS, Alotaibi AN, Altowaijri AM, Al-Sobayel H. Cross-Cultural Adaptation and Validation of the Arabic Version of Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ-Ar). Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(14):5168.
- 192. Prajjwal P, Pimpale M, Manglik S, Nakum S, Shukla A, Kumar A, Ranjan R, Krishna K, Kansurkar S. Cross-Cultural Adaptation and Validation of a Marathi Version of the Versus Arthritis Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ). Cureus. 2023;15(8):e43009.
- 193. Mitchell PM, Roberts TE, Barton PM, Coast J. Applications of the Capability Approach in the Health Field: A Literature Review. Soc Indic Res. 2017;133(1):345-371.

- 194. López Barreda R, Robertson-Preidler J, Bedregal García P. Health assessment and the capability approach. Glob Bioeth. 2019;30(1):19-27.
- 195. Scott DIC, McCray DG, Lancaster PG, Foster PNE, Hill DJC. Validation of the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) in primary care patients with musculoskeletal pain. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2020;50(5):813-820.
- 196. Wheeler PC. Nearly half of patients with chronic tendinopathy may have a neuropathic pain component, with significant differences seen between different tendon sites: a prospective cohort of more than 300 patients. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med. 2022;8(3):e001297.
- 197. Krishnan E, Sokka T, Häkkinen A, Hubert H, Hannonen P. Normative values for the Health Assessment Questionnaire disability index: benchmarking disability in the general population. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(3):953-960.
- 198. McMichael JC, Israel H, Moed BR. The musculoskeletal function assessment: establishing normative data. J Orthop Trauma. 2013;27(8):472-476.
- 199. de Graaf MW, El Moumni M, Heineman E, Wendt KW, Reininga IH. Short Musculoskeletal Function Assessment: normative data of the Dutch population. Qual Life Res. 2015;24(8):2015-2023.
- 200. Burgess R, Lewis M, Hill JC. Musculoskeletal case-mix adjustment in a UK primary/community care cohort: Testing musculoskeletal models to make recommendations in this setting. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2021;56:102455.
- 201. Verbakel E, Tamlagsrønning S, Winstone L, Fjær EL, Eikemo TA. Informal care in Europe: findings from the European Social Survey (2014) special module on the social determinants of health. Eur J Public Health. 2017;27(suppl_1):90-95.
- 202. Baji P, Golicki D, Prevolnik-Rupel V, Brouwer WBF, Zrubka Z, Gulácsi L, Péntek M. The burden of informal caregiving in Hungary, Poland and Slovenia: results from national representative surveys. Eur J Health Econ. 2019;20(Suppl 1):5-16.
- Rubovszly C. Idősgondozás a családban–a gondozó családtagok helyzete a mai Magyarországon. Esély. 2017;2017(4):45-70.
- 204. Kenny P, King MT, Hall J. The physical functioning and mental health of informal carers: evidence of care-giving impacts from an Australian population-based cohort. Health Soc Care Community. 2014;22(6):646-659.
- 205. Abba MA, Ahmad UA, Maje AU, Haruna AZ, Ibrahim AA. Musculoskeletal Pain and Associated Factors Among Informal Caregivers of Stroke Survivors in Northwestern Nigeria. Mod Care J. 2022;19(2):e123216.
- 206. Gossec L, de Wit M, Kiltz U, Braun J, Kalyoncu U, Scrivo R, Maccarone M, Carton L, Otsa K, Sooäär I, Heiberg T, Bertheussen H, Cañete JD, Sánchez Lombarte A, Balanescu A, Dinte A, de

Vlam K, Smolen JS, Stamm T, Niedermayer D, Békés G, Veale D, Helliwell P, Parkinson A, Luger T, Kvien TK. A patient-derived and patient-reported outcome measure for assessing psoriatic arthritis: elaboration and preliminary validation of the Psoriatic Arthritis Impact of Disease (PsAID) questionnaire, a 13-country EULAR initiative. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(6):1012-1019.

- 207. Lau RL, Gandhi R, Mahomed S, Mahomed N. Patient Satisfaction after Total Knee and Hip Arthroplasty. Clin Geriatr Med. 2012;28(3):349-365.
- 208. Choi YJ, Ra HJ. Patient Satisfaction after Total Knee Arthroplasty. Knee Surg Relat Res. 2016;28(1):1-15.
- 209. Mancuso CA, Salvati EA, Johanson NA, Peterson MGE, Charlson ME. Patients' expectations and satisfaction with total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 1997;12(4):387-396.
- 210. Menendez JY, Omar NB, Chagoya G, Tabibian BE, Elsayed GA, Walters BC, Guthrie BL, Hadley MN. Patient Satisfaction in Spine Surgery: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Asian Spine J. 2019;13(6):1047-1057.
- 211. Klemetti S, Leino-Kilpi H, Cabrera E, Copanitsanou P, Ingadottir B, Istomina N, Katajisto J, Papastavrou E, Unosson M, Valkeapää K. Difference between received and expected knowledge of patients undergoing knee or hip replacement in seven European countries. Clin Nurs Res. 2015;24(6):624-643.
- 212. Haugaa KH, Potpara TS, Boveda S, Deharo JC, Chen J, Dobreanu D, Fumagalli S, Lenarczyk R, Hernandez Madrid A, Larsen TB, Sciarrafia E, Taborsky M, Tilz RR, Pieragnoli P, Przybylski A, Dagres N. Patients' knowledge and attitudes regarding living with implantable electronic devices: results of a multicentre, multinational patient survey conducted by the European Heart Rhythm Association. Europace. 2018;20(2):386-391.
- 213. Bumberger A, Borst K, Hobusch GM, Willegger M, Stelzeneder D, Windhager R, Domayer S, Waldstein W. Higher patient knowledge and resilience improve the functional outcome of primary total knee arthroplasty. Wien Klin Wochenschr. 2021;133(11-12):543-549.
- 214. Bumberger A, Borst K, Willegger M, Hobusch GM, Windhager R, Waldstein W, Domayer S. Specific knowledge and resilience affect short-term outcome in patients following primary total hip arthroplasty. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2022;142(6):1229-1237.
- 215. Abdelaal MS, Wiafe BM, Khan IA, Magnuson JA, Saxena A, Smith EB, Lonner JH, Star AM, Good RP, Sharkey PF. Robotic-Assisted Total Knee Arthroplasty: What are Patients' Perspectives, Understanding and Expectations? J Arthroplasty. 2023;38(9):1726-1733.e1724.
- 216. Muaddi H, Zhao X, Leonardelli GJ, de Mestral C, Nathens A, Stukel TA, Guttman MP, Karanicolas PJ. Fear of innovation: public's perception of robotic surgery. Surg Endosc. 2022;36(8):6076-6083.

- 217. Lin PJ, Cangelosi MJ, Lee DW, Neumann PJ. Willingness to pay for diagnostic technologies: a review of the contingent valuation literature. Value Health. 2013;16(5):797-805.
- 218. Steigenberger C, Flatscher-Thoeni M, Siebert U, Leiter AM. Determinants of willingness to pay for health services: a systematic review of contingent valuation studies. Eur J Health Econ. 2022;23(9):1455-1482.

9 BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS

9.1 With relevance to the thesis

9.1.1 Research papers

Hölgyesi Á, Zrubka Zs, Gulácsi L, Baji P, Haidegger T, Kozlovszky M, Weszl M, Kovács L, Péntek M. Robot-assisted surgery and artificial intelligence-based tumour diagnostics: social preferences with a representative cross-sectional survey. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. Accepted for publication.

Hölgyesi Á, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Poór G, Kovács L, Baji P, Péntek M. Új eszköz a mozgásszervi problémákkal élők egészségének értékelésére: a Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire. Magyar Reumatológia. 2023;64:22-32.

Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Epidemiology and patients' self-reported knowledge of implantable medical devices: Results of a cross-sectional survey in Hungary. PloS one. 2023;18(4):e0284577.

Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Baji P, Zrubka Z, Farkas M, Dobos Á, Gulácsi L, Kovács L, Péntek M. Validation of the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire in a general population sample: a cross-sectional online survey in Hungary. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2022;23(1):771.

9.1.2 Conference papers (proceedings)

Fernandes ÓB, **Hölgyesi Á**, Péntek M. Patient-centred care in Hungary: Contributions to foster a policy agenda. Zeitschrift für Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualität im Gesundheitswesen. 2022;171:58-61.

9.1.3 Conference abstracts

9.1.3.1 Presentations

Hölgyesi Á. Tudja, mi lakik Önben? Beültethető orvosi eszközök epidemiológiája és a páciensek tájékozottsága. Innovatív és digitális egészségipari technológiák fejlesztése és értékelése; 2023.11.17.; Óbudai Egyetem.

Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Egészségügyi szolgáltatásokhoz történő hozzáférés vizsgálata mozgásszervi betegséggel rendelkező betegek körében. Magyar Reumatológia. 2021;62(3):147.

9.1.3.2 Posters

Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. PCR258 Citizens' Preferences for Robot-Assisted Hip Replacement: Results of an Online Cross-Sectional Study in Hungary. Value in Health. 2022;25(12):S440.

Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. MT21 Living With Orthopaedic Implants: Results of an Online Cross-Sectional Study in Hungary. Value in Health. 2022;25(12):S381-S382.

Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Robotsebészet alkalmazással kapcsolatos preferenciák csípőprotézis-beültetés esetén: keresztmetszeti kérdőíves felmérés a magyarországi lakosság körében. Magyar Reumatológia. 2022;63(3):168.

Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Balázs G, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Ortopédiai és csonttörés miatti implantátumok epidemiológiája és a betegek tájékozottsága: magyarországi keresztmetszeti lakossági felmérés eredményei. Magyar Reumatológia. 2022;63(3):167.

Hölgyesi Á, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. MT31 Epidemiology and Patients' Knowledge of Implantable Medical Device Management and Safe Use: Results of a CROSS-Sectional Survey Among the General Population in Hungary. Value in Health. 2022;25(7):S538.

Péntek M, **Hölgyesi Á**, Tóth B, Kozlovszky M, Kuti J, Weszl M, Czere J, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z. MT26 Citizens' Thoughts about Implantable Medical Devices: Results of a Cross-Sectional Survey Among the General Population in Hungary. Value in Health. 2022;25(7):S537.

Péntek M, Kozlovszky M, Weszl M, Kuti J, **Hölgyesi Á**, Tóth B, Czere J, Baji P, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z. MT7 Patients' Experiences with Shared Decision Making about Implantable Medical Device Surgery: Results of a Cross-Sectional Survey in Hungary. Value in Health. 2022;25(7):S533.

Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. POSB204 The Burden of Informal Care in Patients with Musculoskeletal Health Problems: Results from a Cross-Sectional Population Survey. Value in Health. 2022;25(1):S134.

Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. POSB203 Accessibility to Healthcare Services and Interventions Among Patients with Musculoskeletal Health Problems: Results from an Online Cross-Sectional Survey. Value in Health. 2022;25(1):S134.

Hölgyesi Á, Poór G, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Informális gondozás és mozgásszervi egészség: keresztmetszeti kérdőíves lakossági felmérés. Magyar Reumatológia. 2021;62(3):172-173.

9.2 Other

9.2.1 Research papers

Zrubka Z, Kertész G, Gulácsi L, Czere J, **Hölgyesi Á**, Nezhad HM, Mosavi A, Kovács L, Butte AJ, Péntek M. The Reporting Quality of Machine Learning Studies on Pediatric Diabetes Mellitus: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res. 2024;26:e47430.

Tóth B, Motahari-Nezhad H, Horseman N, Berek L, Kovács L, **Hölgyesi Á**, Péntek M, Mirjalili S, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z. Ranking resilience: assessing the impact of scientific performance and the expansion of the Times Higher Education Word University Rankings on the position of Czech, Hungarian, Polish, and Slovak universities. Scientometrics. 2024;129:1739-1770.

Móga K, **Hölgyesi Á**, Zrubka Z, Péntek M, Haidegger T. Augmented or Mixed Reality Enhanced Head-Mounted Display Navigation for In Vivo Spine Surgery: A Systematic Review of Clinical Outcomes. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2023;12(11):3788.

Dóczy V, Sódar BW, **Hölgyesi Á**, Merész G, Gaál P. Development, testing, and implementation of a new procedure to assess the clinical added benefit of pharmaceuticals. International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care. 2022;38(1):e58.

Merész G, Dóczy V, **Hölgyesi Á**, Németh G. Az egészség-gazdaságtani elemzések kritikai értékelési gyakorlatának bemutatása. Lege Artis Medicinae. 2021;31(11):519–529.

Merész G, Dóczy V, **Hölgyesi Á**, Németh G. A critical assessment framework to identify, quantify and interpret the sources of uncertainty in cost-effectiveness analyses. BMC Health Services Research. 2022;22(1):1-8.

Merész G, Szabó S, Dóczy V, **Hölgyesi Á**, Szakács Z. Relative frequency of urinary tract infections in patients affected by diabetes mellitus type 2 treated with metformin and SGLT2 inhibitor. Network meta-analysis. Orvosi Hetilap. 2020;161(13):491-501.

Tretter L, Horvath G, **Hölgyesi A**, Essek F, Adam-Vizi V. Enhanced hydrogen peroxide generation accompanies the beneficial bioenergetic effects of methylene blue in isolated brain mitochondria. Free radical biology and medicine. 2014;77:317-330.

9.2.2 Conference papers (proceedings)

Zrubka Z, **Hölgyesi Á**, Neshat M, Nezhad HM, Mirjalili S, Kovács L, Péntek M, Gulácsi L. Towards a single goodness metric of clinically relevant, accurate, fair and unbiased machine learning predictions of health-related quality of life. 2023 IEEE 27th International Conference on Intelligent Engineering Systems (INES); 2023 26-28 July 2023.

9.2.3 Conference abstracts 9.2.3.1 Presentations

Muzslay E, Luczay A, Tóth-Heyn P, Világos E, **Hölgyesi Á**, Szabó A, Kovács L, Gulácsi L, Zrubka Z, Péntek M. Az 1-es típusú cukorbetegség miatt kezelt gyermekeket gondozó szülők elektronikus egészségműveltsége: összefüggés a betegségkezeléssel és a kimenetellel. MGYT-MDT Gyermekdiabetes Szekció XXXVII Kongresszusa. (2023)

9.2.3.2 Posters

Péntek M, **Hölgyesi Á**, Czere J, Kovács L, Zrubka Z, Gulácsi L. PCR113 EQ-5D Studies in Pediaric Diabetes: A Systematic Review. Value in Health. 2023;26(12):S470.

Hölgyesi Á, Zrubka Z, Luczay A, Tóth-Heyn P, Muzslay E, Szabó A, Világos E, Gulácsi L, Kovács L, Péntek M. PCR7 Association of Children's Type 1 Diabetes with Parents' Capability Well-Being Assessed By the ICECAP-A Measure. Value in Health. 2023;26(6):S313.

Hölgyesi Á, Zrubka Z, Luczay A, Tóth-Heyn P, Muzslay E, Szabó A, Világos E, Gulácsi L, Kovács L, Péntek M. PCR201 Digital Health Literacy of Parents and Health-Related

Quality of Life of Their Children with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Value in Health. 2023;26(6):S349.

Dóczy V, Sódar Barbara W, **Hölgyesi Á**, Merész G. POSC282 Development of a Value Framework to Conclude on Clinical Added Benefit in Hungary. Value in Health. 2022;25(1):S189.

Merész G, Szabó S, Dóczy V, **Hölgyesi Á**, Szakács Z. Conducting network meta-analyses for reimbursement decisions: tools, potential shortcuts and pitfalls. Med Decis Mak. 2020;40(5):E428-E429.

10 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Prof Dr Márta Péntek.

I want to thank Prof. Dr László Gulácsi, Dr Zsombor Zrubka and all the co-authors of the publications for their tireless work and efforts.

I would also like to express my gratitude to the more than 3000 residents who participated in the surveys.

I'm grateful to my Family for their support.